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Acronyms and 
Glossary of Terms 

CEO			 
Chief Executive Officer

DG			 
Director General

IPSAS	 	
International Public Sector Accounting Standards

MD			 
Managing Director

NT			 
National Treasury

PFMA		
Public Finance Management Act.

PSASB		
Public Sector Accounting Standards Board

PSSF			 
Public Service Superannuation Fund

PSSS			 
Public Service Superannuation Scheme

BOT			 
Board of Trustees
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Background 
Information

Public Service Superannuation Scheme (PSSS) is a Defined Contribution (DC) 
Retirement Benefits Fund established under the Public Service Superannuation 
Scheme Act No. 8 of 2012 which was enacted as part of Government reforms 
initiatives in the Pensions Sector. The Act established the contributory Public 
Service Superannuation Scheme (PSSS) in line with the policy direction issued 
by Government through the National Treasury Circular No. 18 of 2010. 

The Public Service Superannuation Scheme commenced on 1st  January 2021 as 
per Legal Notice No. 156 published in the Kenyan Gazette Supplement No. 146 of 
12th August 2020. The Scheme membership is drawn from Civil Servants, Teach-
ers employed by the Teachers Service Commission and Disciplined Services Per-
sonnel (National Police Service, Prisons Service and the National Youth Service). 
Section 9 of the PSSS Act establishes the Public Service Superannuation Fund 
which is managed by a Board of Trustees.
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Objective & 
Purpose of PSSF

Improve the social security 
of members

Establish a uniform set of rules, reg-
ulation and standards for the admin-
istration and payment of retirement 
benefits for members of the Fund

Ensure timely payments of 
benefits to members as and 
when they become due

Pay retirement benefits to 
members of the Fund

Our Mission
To collect contributions, optimallyin-
vest and pay benefits to scheme mem-
bers and their beneficiaries sustainably 
through sound financial, good gover-
nance and risk management policies 
in pension fund administration

     Core Values
Responsiveness

Independence

Fairness

Transparency & Accountability

Integrity

Teamwork

Our Vision
A trusted retirement benefits provider
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Trustees 

S/N Name of Trustee
Category (Sponsor/
Stakeholder/Union 
Nominated)

Date of (Re) 
Appointment Gender Term TDPK

Certified

1. Mr. Wycliffe Wangamati Chairperson Appointed on   
6th June 2024 Male 1 Yes

2. Ms. Agnes Mwenda Union of Kenya Civil 
Servants

Re appointed on 
19th April 2024 Female 2 Yes

3. Mr. David William Okoth Ochiel

Representing the 
Principal Secretary, 
State Department 
for Public Service

Appointed on 
19th April 2024 Male 1 Yes

4. Mr. Amos Cheptoo
Representing the 
Principal Secretary, 
National Treasury

Appointed on 
22nd July 2024 Male 1 Yes

5. Ms. Rosemary Kuraru, EBS, ndc(k)
Inspector Gener-
al - National Police 
Service

Re-appointed on 
19th April 2024 Female 2 Yes

6. Mr. Calvin Anyuor
Representing the 
Secretary, Teachers 
Service Commission

Appointed on 
19th April 2024 Male 1 Yes

7. Dr. Kiprono Philemon
Representing the-
Secretary, Public 
Service Commission

Appointed on 
19th April 2024 Male 1 Yes

8. Mr. Muuo Ndiku
Nominee of the Ken-
ya National Union of 
Teachers

Appointed on 
19th April 2024 Male 1 Yes

9. Mr. Wicks Njenga

Nominee of the 
Kenya Union of Post 
Primary Education 
Teachers

Re-appointed 
on 19th April 2024 Male 2 Yes

10. Amb. Tuneiya Hussein Dado Chairperson Appointed on 4th 
July 2025 Male 1 Yes
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Professional Advisors 

Corporation Secretary

Ms. Angela Kiptoo
P.O. Box 3561-00200
Nairobi

Registered Office

CBK Pension Towers,1st Floor
Harambee Avenue
P.O. Box 3561-00200
Nairobi, Kenya

Corporate Headquarters

Central Bank of Kenya
Haile Selassie Avenue
P.O. Box 60000-00200
Nairobi, Kenya

Custodians

NCBA Bank Kenya PLC
Mara Road, Upper Hill
P.O. Box 44599-00100 
Nairobi, Kenya

Co-operative Bank Kenya LTD
Co-operative Bank House
P.O. Box 48231-00100 
Nairobi, Kenya

Stanbic Bank Kenya LTD
CFC Centre, Chiromo Road
P.O. Box 72833–00200 
Nairobi, Kenya

Fund Managers

GenAfrica Asset Managers Limited
Arlington Block, 14 Riverside Business 
Park, Off Riverside Drive
P.O. Box 79217- 00200 
Nairobi, Kenya

Fund Administrators

CPF Financial Services Limited
CPF House 7th Floor, Haile Selassie Avenue
P.O Box 28938 - 00200
Nairobi, Kenya.

Independent Auditors

Auditor-General
The Office of the Auditor General
Anniversary Towers, University Way 
P.O. Box 30084-00100
Nairobi, Kenya

The Attorney General
State Law Office and Department of Justice
Harambee Avenue
P.O. Box 40112-00200
Nairobi, Kenya
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Hon. Amb. Hussein Dado
Chairman

Hon. Amb. Hussein Dado holds a Master’s degree in Education from Ken-
ya Methodist University. His academic background complements his ex-
tensive experience in governance and diplomacy, reinforcing his leader-
ship in public service reform and pension fund management. Hon. Amb. 
Hussein Dado is a seasoned Kenyan public servant and diplomat, He was 
previously the first Governor of Tana River County and has held diplomat-
ic roles. His leadership focuses on governance, pension sustainability, and 
public service reform.

Ms. Agnes Mwenda
Vice Chair

Ms. Agnes Mwenda holds a Bachelor of Science in Health Systems Man-
agement (BSc- HSM) from Kenya Methodist University (KeMU), a higher 
diploma in Kenya Registered Psychiatric Nursing (KRPN) and Diploma 
in Kenya Registered Community Heath Nursing (KRCHN) from Kenya 
Medical Training College (KMTC). In addition, Ms. Mwenda has success-
fully completed other trainings including: a Management and Leader-
ship course offered by Strategic Leadership Development Programme 
(SLDP), Corporate Governance training from the Centre for Corporate 
Governance (CCG), Senior Management Course (SMC) and a Supervisory 
Skills course at the Kenya School of Government (KSG). 

Mr. Amos Cheptoo
Trustee

Mr. Amos Cheptoo is a seasoned economist and public servant, currently 
he is the Director for Resource Mobilization Department at the Nation-
al Treasury, a position he holds after serving as the special advisor for 
multilateral cooperation. He previously served as the Executive Director 
for Eastern Africa at the Board of the African Development Bank (2019–
2022) and Senior Advisor (2016–2019), based in Abidjan. He also worked 
as the Programme Manager for the Macroeconomic and Financial Man-
agement Institute of Eastern and Southern Africa (MEFMI) (2006–2016), 
based in Harare. Prior to international assignments, he served as an 
Economist at the Central Bank of Kenya from 1996–2006.

Mr. David William Okoth Ochiel
Trustee

Mr. David William Okoth Ochiel, a Certified Human Resource Professional (CHRP-K), is a dedicat-
ed public servant with over 20 years of experience in the Kenyan government. He currently serves 
as the Director of Human Resource Management and Development at the State Department 
for Public Service. Ochiel holds a Master’s and Bachelor’s degree in Education from Kenyatta 
University and has advanced training in human resource management and leadership from in-
stitutions in Singapore and South Korea. His career began in education before transitioning to 
the Civil Service, where he has held various leadership roles. Ochiel has significantly contribut-
ed to professional and organizational development in the public sector. He has led initiatives to 
enhance career growth, coordinated a comprehensive medical insurance scheme for civil ser-
vants, and facilitated numerous competency development courses. His expertise in personal and 
career development, public sector management, and organizational leadership has resulted in 
high motivation and positive outcomes for individuals and organizations. Ochiel is committed to 
advancing Kenya’s and Africa’s presence on the global stage through effective human capital and 
leadership development.
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Dr. Kiprono Philemon, Ph.D
Trustee

Dr. Kiprono Philemon, Ph.D serves as the Head of Research and Policy Analysis at the Public Ser-
vice Commission. With a Ph.D. and Master’s degree in Development Economics, and a Bachelor 
of Science in Applied Statistics (First Class Honors), he brings over 18 years of extensive experience 
in policy analysis. Prior to his current role, Dr. Kiprono held the position of Efficiency Monitoring 
Officer, where he spearheaded the monitoring and evaluation of the implementation of various 
PSC policies. His responsibilities included ensuring the efficiency and effectiveness of policy im-
plementation processes. He has also worked with Presidential Policy and Strategy Unity (PASU) 
as Agricultural advisor on the Big 4 Agenda. Besides. Dr. Kiprono has also worked with the State 
Department for Economic Planning as an economist. Dr. Kiprono’s hands-on experience in policy 
analysis and implementation positions him as a seasoned professional driving evidence-based 
decision-making and fostering impactful policy development.

Mr. Ndiku Muuo
Trustee 

Mr. Ndiku Muuo is the National Treasurer, The Kenya National Union of 
Teachers. He holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Education from Kenya Meth-
odist University, Diploma in Special Needs Education from the Kenya 
Institute of Special Education (KISE). Mr Ndiku has held the position of 
Deputy National Treasurer, KNUT 2016-2021 and Assistant National Trea-
surer, KNUT 2015-2016.

Ms. Rosemary Kuraru, EBS, ndc(k)
Trustee 

Ms. Kuraru is a Senior Assistant Inspector General and the Director - Human Capital Development 
in the National Police Service. She is an alumnus of the prestigious National Defence College of 
Kenya. She holds an MBA (International Relations & Diplomacy) from the University of Nairobi 
(UoN), a Bachelor of Science in Counselling Psychology from Mt. Kenya University (MKU) and a 
Higher Diploma in Psychological Counselling from Kenya Methodist University (KEMU). In addi-
tion, Ms Kuraru has attended various trainings including: Corporate Governance Training (2022), 
Trustee Development Training in Kenya (2021), State Corporations Advisory Committee (SCAC) 
Training (2023), Senior Mission Leadership Course at the International Peace Support Training 
Centre (IPSTC, 2017), Strategic Leadership Development Programme (SLDP, 2016), and Senior 
Management Course (SMC, 2014) at the Kenya School of Government. Rosemary is a career Po-
lice Officer, who joined the National Police Service in 1993 as a Police Constable. She has served 
for Thirty years (30) years and has risen through the ranks in the male-dominated Police Service 
to become among the first women to achieve the rank of Senior Assistant Inspector General of 
Police and the first woman Director - Human Capital Development in the National Police Service. 
In the Board, she represents the Inspector General of National Police Service

Mr. Wicks Njenga
Trustee 

Mr. Wicks Njenga served as a teacher (1988 – 2001) in various Public Sec-
ondary Schools. He was elected as the Kiambu Branch of Kenya Union of 
Post Primary Education Teachers (KUPPET) Executive Secretary (2001– 
2010) and re-elected in January 2013. He also elected as the National 
Treasurer of KUPPET, a position he has served since 2006. He is also an 
Examiner at the Kenya National Examinations Council. Mr Wicks was ap-
pointed to the Board of the Public Service Superannuation Fund (PSSF) 
in 2021 to represent KUPPET. In the Board, he serves as the chairman of 
the Audit and Risk Management Committee. Mr. Wicks holds a Bachelor 
of Education degree from Kenyatta University 1988
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CS. Cavin Anyuor
Trustee 

CS. Cavin Anyuor is an Advocate of the High Court of Kenya of over 10 years post qualification 
experience with keen interest in Employment and Labour law. He holds a Master of Laws degree 
in Employment and Labour Law from the University of Turin’s International Training Centre of the 
ILO, a Bachelor of Laws Degree from the University of Nairobi and a Post Graduate Diploma in 
Law from the Kenya School of Law. He is a Certified Public Secretary, an accredited Governance 
Auditor and a Certified Professional Mediator (CPM). Additionally, he has undertaken various lead-
ership trainings including the Senior Leadership and Development Program (SLDP) from the 
Kenya School of Government (KSG). He is a member in good standing of the Law Society of Kenya, 
East Africa Law Society and the Institute of Certified Secretaries He has had an illustrious career 
with the Teachers Service Commission spanning over 22 years. He has a wealth of experience in 
corporate governance, education, labour and employment law.

Dr. Jonah Aiyabei, Ph.D
Trustee 

Dr.  Jonah Aiyabei, Ph.D. is a scholar and corporate executive with an extensive track 
record in the pensions industry in Kenya. He is currently the Chief Executive Officer 
of the Public Service Superannuation Fund (PSSF). He most recently served as the 
Director, of Morendat Institute of Oil &Gas, where he led the Centre in building ca-
pacity for the Oil & Gas Industry. Previously he served as the CEO/Trust Secretary for 
the Kenya Pipeline Company Pension Scheme. He also serves as a council member 
for Mount Kenya University and sits on the KASNEB Board as a technical examina-
tion committee member. Dr Aiyabei holds a PhD in Business Administration, Strat-
egy and Financial Management from the Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture 
and Technology and MBA from Kenyatta University. He is a fellow of the Institute of 
Certified Investment and Financial Analysts (ICIFA).

Ms. Angela Kiptoo
Corporation Secretary

Ms. Angela Kiptoo holds a Master of Laws degree in Commercial law, Master of   
Business Administration degree in Strategic Management, Bachelor of Laws, Post-
graduate diploma in law and is a Certified Secretary (CS). She has over 15 years’ 
post-admission experience in legal and corporate secretarial practice. Prior to join-
ing the Fund, she served as Corporation Secretary at Kenya Power Pension Fund. 
She has also served in a similar capacity at Kenya Institute of Mass Communication 
and the Catholic University of Eastern Africa and as a senior Associate at Muthoga 
Gaturu & Co. Advocates. She is an active member of the Law Society of Kenya (LSK), 
East Africa Law Society (EALS) and the Institute of Certified Public Secretaries of 
Kenya (ICS), and a recipient of a Commendation Award from ICS for her outstand-
ing contribution to the governance profession
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Dr. Jonah Aiyabei, Ph.D. 
Chief Executive Officer

Dr Jonah Aiyabei, Ph.D. is a scholar and corporate executive with an extensive track 
record in the pensions industry in Kenya. He is currently the Chief Executive Officer 
of the Public Service Superannuation Fund (PSSF). He most recently served as the 
Director, of Morendat Institute of Oil &Gas, where he led the Centre in building ca-
pacity for the Oil & Gas Industry. Previously he served as the CEO/Trust Secretary for 
the Kenya Pipeline Company Pension Scheme. He also serves as a council member 
for Mount Kenya University and sits on the KASNEB Board as a technical examina-
tion committee member. Dr Aiyabei holds a PhD in Business Administration, Strat-
egy and Financial Management from the Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture 
and Technology and MBA from Kenyatta University. He is a fellow of the Institute of 
Certified Investment and Financial Analysts (ICIFA).

Ms. Angela Kiptoo 
Corporation Secretary

Ms. Angela Kiptoo holds a Master of Laws degree in Commercial law, Mas-
ter of   Business Administration degree in Strategic Management, Bachelor 
of Laws, Postgraduate diploma in law and is a Certified Secretary (CS). She 
has over 15 years’ post-admission experience in legal and corporate secretari-
al practice. Prior to joining the Fund, she served as Corporation Secretary at 
Kenya Power Pension Fund. She has also served in a similar capacity at Kenya 
Institute of Mass Communication and the Catholic University of Eastern Africa 
and as a senior Associate at Muthoga Gaturu & Co. Advocates. She is an active 
member of the Law Society of Kenya (LSK), East Africa Law Society (EALS) and 
the Institute of Certified Public Secretaries of Kenya (ICS), and a recipient of a 
Commendation Award from ICS for her outstanding contribution to the gov-
ernance profession.

FA/CPA Obed Mbuvi
Manager, Finance & Accounts / Investments

FA/CPA Obed Mbuvi holds a Master in Business Administration (MBA) from 
University of Nairobi, a Bachelor of Commerce degree majoring in Accounting 
from Daystar University, is a Certified Public Accountant of Kenya, CPA (K), 
Certified Investment & Financial Analyst (CIFA), Certified Trustee (TDPK).

He is a member of the institute of Certified Public Accountants of Kenya, 
Member of the Institute of certified Investment & Financial Analyst and Mem-
ber Kenya Institute of Management. His senior leadership experience spans 
over 23 years having worked in various departments.

Mr. Jonathan Makau 
Manager, Supply Chain Management

Jonathan Makau is seasoned Procurement and supply chain management 
with over 20 years Wealth of Experience in Supply Chain and Management 
in both Public and Private Sector. He is currently the Supply Chain Manager 
of the Public Service Superannuation Fund (PSSF). Mr Makau holds a Master 
Degree in Management and Leadership and a Bachelor in Management and 
Leadership from the Management University of Africa, Diploma In Purchasing 
and Supplies from Chartered Institute of Purchasing and Supplies- (CIPS)-UK 
in addition to a Diploma In Purchasing And Supplies Chain Management and 
An Advanced Certificate In Purchasing &amp; Supplies Management Both 
From Kenya Institute Of Management (Kim). Jonathan is a licensed Supply 
Chain Practitioner and Member in good standing with the Kenya Institute of 
Supplies Management (KISM).
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Ms. Golda Larissa Akolo
Manager, Benefits Administration

Ms. Golda Larissa Akolo holds a Msc Actuarial Science, from University of Nairobi 
with vast experience in understanding of pension scheme administration with over 
two decades of cumulative experience, including seven years in senior managerial 
roles with experience in corporate governance, policy development and strategic 
management.  She is also a member of Member of The Actuarial Society of Kenya 
and also Member of the Insurance Institute of Kenya.

Mr. Edwin Ombaka
Head, Internal Audit

Edwin has a Master of Business Administration (MBA) degree (Finance) from 
The University of Nairobi, Bachelor of Commerce (Accounting) Degree from 
Kenyatta University, Certified Public Accountant of Kenya (CPAK), Certified In-
formation Systems Auditor (CISA). He is a member of the Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants of Kenya (ICPAK), Information Systems and Control Asso-
ciation (ISACA) and Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA).

Mr. Nandwa Mukolwe Erick 
Head, Strategy & Business Development

Nandwa Mukolwe Erick holds a Master’s degree in Economic Policy Manage-
ment, from Makerere University with vast experience in providing leadership 
in economic planning; policy formulation, data collection and analysis; strate-
gic planning and budgeting; monitoring and evaluation, resource mobiliza-
tion, knowledge management as well as instituting and implementing per-
formance management and evaluation systems. He is also a member of the 
Economic Society of Kenya.

The Management Team
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Ngumbo Njoroge
Head, Corporate Communication 

Ngumbo Njoroge is a communication strategist with strong experience in 
corporate communications, public relations, and stakeholder engagement. 
He holds a Masters in Communication Studies and a Bachelors degree in 
Journalism and Media Studies from the University of Nairobi. He is also a 
Bloomberg Media Fellow with specialised training in financial journalism, 
and is currently pursuing global accreditation from the Chartered Institute of  
Public Relations (CIPR). 

Ngumbo is a member of the Public Relations Society of Kenya (MPRSK) and 
has completed senior management training at the Kenya School of Govern-
ment. He currently leads the communication function at the Public Service 
Superannuation Fund, guiding strategy, brand positioning, and institutional 
visibility.

The Management Team

Richard Sigilai
Manager, Human Resource & Administration 

Richard Sigilai is a seasoned HR professional with extensive experience 
in people management, organisational development, and administra-
tive leadership. He holds a Master of Science in Human Resource Manage-
ment, a Bachelor of Arts in Social Science, and a Post-Graduate Diploma 
in Education. He has further strengthened his expertise through a Higher 
Diploma in HRM, the Senior Leadership Development Program, the Se-
nior Management Course, TDPK, and a Certificate in Basic Counselling. 
 
With this strong academic and professional foundation, he provides strategic 
guidance on HR policy, talent development, and workplace culture, ensuring 
the organisation attracts, nurtures, and retains high-performing teams. His 
blend of leadership training and counselling skills enables him to foster a sup-
portive, efficient, and people-centred work environment.

Margaret Koskey
Assistant Manager,  ICT

Margaret Koskey holds an MBA in Management Information Systems, a BSc 
in Computer Information Systems, and higher- and diploma-level IT qualifi-
cations.  Sheis a member of the Computer Society of Kenya and brings over 
20 years of experience in system and database administration, ICT project 
management, and enterprise system implementation. Her previous service 
includes over two decades at the Teachers Service Commission, where she 
gained extensive expertise in ICT operations and systems support.

In her current role as Assistant Manager and Head of ICT at PSSF, she pro-
vides strategic leadership in ICT operations, systems development, database 
management, cybersecurity, and digital transformation initiatives, ensuring 
the availability, integrity, and reliability of the Fund’s technology environment.
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Fiduciary Management

The key management personnel who held office during the financial year ended 30th June 2025 and who had 
direct fiduciary responsibility were:

No. Designation Name 

1. CEO Dr. Jonah Aiyabei PhD

2. Head of Corporate Services Ms. Angela Kiptoo

3. Head of Finance & Accounts CPA Obed Mbuvi

4. Head of Procurement Mr. Jonathan Makau

5 Head of Audit Mr. Edwin Ombaka
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Fiduciary Oversight Arrangements 

Board Committees

The Board has a comprehensive structure consisting of committees in line with current legislation and best prac-
tices. The Board has three Committees with specific delegated authorities. The Committees are established to sup-
port the Board in executing its responsibilities and obligations. The committees meet at least once every quarter 
and provide detailed reports and recommendations to the Board that assist in decision making. They are estab-
lished with specific terms of reference that are regularly reviewed and streamlined in accordance with emerging 
trends. The appointment of the Committee members is based on the skills set and experience of individual Trust-
ees.

BOARD OF TRUSTEE

Finance, Investments & Strategy Benefits Administration, 
HR & Governance Audit, Risk & Compliance

•	 Dr. Philemon Kiprono 

•	 Amos Cheptoo

•	 Agnes Mwenda

•	 David William Okoth Ochiel

•	 Muuo Ndiku

•	 David William Okoth Ochiel

•	 Agnes Mwenda

•	 Rosemary Kuraru EBS, ndc(k) 

•	 Cavin Anyuor 

•	 Wicks Njenga

•	 Dr. Philemon Kiprono

•	 Wicks Njenga

•	 Amos Cheptoo

•	 Rosemary Kuraru EBS, ndc(k)

•	 Cavin Anyuor

•	 Muuo Ndiku

I. Finance, Investments & Strategy Committee

The mandate of the committee but not limited to: -

•	 Review and present the Fund’s annual budget to 
the board of trustees.

•	 Receive and consider the financial implications of 
any act proposed which involves expenditure or 
write-off of revenue or assets receive and consid-
er the financial implications of any act proposed 
which involves expenditure or write-off of revenue 
or assets exceeding five percent of the value of the 
scheme’s assets.

•	 Review the Fund’s options for raising capital for any 
proposed projects for financial sustainability.

•	 Monitor, review and make recommendations to 
the board regarding the appointment and perfor-
mance of the Fund’s service providers.

•	 Monitor implementation of the investment strategy

•	 Monitor compliance with the statutory investment 
guidelines

•	 Report quarterly to the Board on issues relating to 
the schemes’ investments 

•	 Oversee the implementation of investment deci-
sions

•	 Review proposals on alternative investments made 
by the fund managers

•	 Address other investment related issues as neces-
sary for the prudent and cost-effective investment 
of schemes’ assets.

•	 Consider the performance of the investment man-
agers.

•	 Develop the long-term financial plan of the Scheme

•	 Develop the Board Annual budget and monitor its 
implementation

•	 Report to the Board on the financial health of the 
scheme

•	 Update the Board on overall financial trends

•	 Follow up on issues discussed at Board meetings 
requiring action

•	 Review the schemes’ property portfolio

•	 Oversee the implementation of property develop-
ment projects

•	 Oversee maintenance and renovations of property 
assets

•	 Recommend acquisitions and disposals of property 
assets
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II. Benefits Administration, HR & Governance

The mandate of the committee is:-

•	 Review documentation pertaining to the death of members and the nominated beneficiaries, medical reports 
and documents pertaining to the emigration of members.

•	 Make decisions on the disbursement of benefits

•	 Approval or decline requests for discretionary benefits

•	 Make recommendations on the utilization of a trust for minors

•	 Ensure and monitor compliance with all legislative and regulatory frameworks relating to the disbursement of 
benefits

•	 Report quarterly to the Board on issues relating to the disbursement of benefits

•	 Review proposals on alternative disbursement of benefits by beneficiaries or dependents

•	 Be responsible for the education of members, trustees and the staff of the scheme secretariat.

III. Audit, Risk & Compliance

The mandate of the committee is:-

•	 Liaison and facilitation of both internal and external auditors for effective discharge of their respective assign-
ments

•	 Monitoring and reviewing the integrity of the Fund’s financial statements

•	 Reviewing the effectiveness and reliability of management information systems, risk and internal controls sys-
tems

•	 Oversight of the execution of the risk management strategies of the Fund

Fiduciary Oversight Arrangements (continued)
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As Chairman, I recognize the sig-
nificant role our pension scheme 
plays in shaping the futures of 
our members, both during their 
tenure in employment and into 
their retirement years.

Hon. Amb. Tuneiya Hussein Dado
Chairman of the Board

Chairman’s 
Statement
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It is my honor to present the Chairman’s Statement for the Public Service Superannuation Fund (PSSF) for the 
financial year ended 30th June 2025. This year was marked by exceptional growth, enhanced governance, and an 
unwavering commitment to the welfare of our members.

I am pleased to provide an update on our pension scheme, a vital component of our commitment to our members’ 
financial security and well-being. As Chairman, I recognize the significant role our pension scheme plays in shaping 
the futures of our members, both during their tenure in employment and into their retirement years.

Financial Performance

PSSF experienced an outstanding year, with record growth and strong financial fundamentals:

•	 The Fund’s total value surged from KShs 142 billion in 2024 to KShs 242 billion in 2025, marking a re-
markable 70.4% growth.

•	 Investment income increased from KShs 14.054 billion in 2024 to KShs 25.369 billion in 2025, reflect-
ing a robust 80.5% rise driven by strategic allocations in government securities, equities, and offshore 
investments.

•	 Monthly contributions exceeded KShs 4.2 billion, supported by expanded membership and improved 
remittance compliance.

•	 Administrative costs were effectively managed, sustaining cost-efficiency without compromising ser-
vice delivery.

These financial milestones position PSSF among the fastest-growing pension schemes in the region, reflecting 
members’ trust and prudent stewardship.

Corporate Governance

Governance remained at the heart of our operations:

•	 Quarterly Board meetings provided oversight and strategic guidance.

•	 A revised Governance Charter was adopted to reinforce ethical practices, fiduciary responsibility, and 
transparency.

•	 Trustee capacity-building and stakeholder consultations were actively pursued to improve gover-
nance outcomes.

•	 Full compliance with the PSSF Act, pension regulations, and international reporting standards was 
achieved.

Looking ahead, we remain committed to delivering value through the ongoing implementation of the Strategic 
Plan 2023–2027, which emphasizes operational excellence, sustainable growth, and digital transformation.

I extend my sincere appreciation to our members, staff, partners, and the Government of Kenya for their continued 
support and confidence in the Fund.

Hon. Amb. Tuneiya Hussein Dado
Chairman of the Board

Chairman’s Statement (continued)
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...PSSF achieved exceptional 
growth, with our asset base ex-
panding from KES 142 billion to 
KES 242 billion, a 70.4% increase. 
This was fueled by strategic in-
vestments, robust governance, 
and a commitment to sustain-
able value creation.

Dr. Jonah Aiyabei PhD
Chief Executive Officer

Report of the 
Chief Executive Officer
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It is with great pride and responsibility that I present the Public Service Superannuation Fund’s annual statement 
for the financial year ended 30th June 2025. This year has been transformative, not only for PSSF but also for Kenya’s 
broader economic landscape.

Despite global headwinds, Kenya’s economy demonstrated resilience, recording a GDP growth of 4.7% in 2024, 
driven by strong performance in agriculture, financial services, and real estate sectors. Inflation eased significantly 
from 9.6% in October 2022 to 3.8% by May 2025, while the Kenyan shilling strengthened from KES 159.7/USD to KES 
129.3/USD, reflecting improved macroeconomic stability. These developments created a favorable environment for 
long-term institutional investors like PSSF.

In this context, PSSF achieved exceptional growth, with our asset base expanding from KES 142 billion to KES 242 
billion, a 70.4% increase. This was fueled by strategic investments, robust governance, and a commitment to sus-
tainable value creation.

Strategically, PSSF focus for the year revolved entailed investment diversification from the traditional investments 
to alternative investments. In addition, PSSF pursued Digital Transformation where ERP system was acquired and 
operationalized with an aim of enhancing member experience through faster claims processing and expanded 
online services. The institution also pursued, Strengthened compliance and governance through policy alignment 
in line with evolving regulatory frameworks.

As a way forward, PSSF aims to accelerate Fund growth, sustainability and deepen stakeholder trust through 
undertaking strategic initiatives as anchored in the Five-Year Strategic Plan (2023–2027).  Core priorities include 
undertaking investment diversification across high-yield sectors including real estate, infrastructure, and private 
equity; expanding the contribution base to secure long-term obligations; enhancing financial literacy initiatives 
through training and expanding digital self-service capabilities; as well as aadopting advanced risk management 
frameworks and enhancing transparency across reporting channels.

We remain committed to ensuring the safety and dignity of retirement for our members, while actively contribut-
ing to Kenya’s socioeconomic progress. I extend my sincere gratitude to all contributors, staff, the Board, and our 
stakeholders for their unwavering support. Together, we are building a resilient and inclusive retirement system for 
generations to come.

Dr. Jonah Aiyabei PhD
Chief Executive Officer

Report of the CEO(continued)
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KShs.

242B
in 2025

KShs.

142B
in 2024

KShs.

25.369 B
in 2025

KShs.

14.054 B
in 2025

KShs.

4.2 B
in 2025

Fund 
Value

Investment 
Income

Monthly 
Contributions

Fund at a Glance
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Statement of Performance against Predetermined 
Objectives for FY 2024/25

Public Service Superannuation Fund (PSSF) has five (5) strategic issues and goals, eight (8) Key Result Areas (KRAs) 
and eight (8) strategic objectives within the current Strategic Plan for the FY 2023-2027. These issues are as follows: 

Strategic Issue 1: 

Sustainability in provision of 
retirement benefits

Strategic Issue 3: 

Member-centric driven Services

Strategic Issue 5: 

Corporate governance and       
Human resource development

Strategic Issue 2: 

Efficient pension administra-
tion structures and systems

Strategic Issue 4: 

Business process efficiency

PSSF develops its annual work plans based on the above five (5) Issues. Assessment of the Board’s performance 
against its annual work plan is done on a quarterly basis. PSSF achieved its performance targets set for the FY 
2024/2025 period for its strategic pillars, as indicated in the diagram below:

Strategic Issues/Goals Strategic 
Objective

Key Performance 
Indicators Activities Achievements

S.I. 1: Sustainability in provi-
sion of retirement benefits

S.G. 1: To Enhance sustainabil-
ity in provision of retirement 
benefits

To achieve 
financial growth 
and sustainabil-
ity;

Growth in assets 
under manage-
ment

Receive, update, 
reconcile and 
follow up on un-
remitted member 
and employee 
contributions 

Updated 100% of 
the member data 
and generated 
statements on 
member accounts 

Collected and 
invested mem-
ber contributions 
which has grown 
to the current 
asset value of Ksh 
242 Billion

Growth in Scheme 
Membership

Receive return 
from employers, 
undertake review 
to identify new 
members, define 
and onboard new 
members to the 
scheme

Membership grew 
to 505,282 as at 
30th June 2025 
from 440, 554 as 
at 30 June 2024. 
Membership grew 
by 62,792 
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Statement of Performance against Predetermined 
Objectives for FY 2024/25 (Continued)

Strategic Issues/Goals Strategic 
Objective

Key Performance 
Indicators Activities Achievements

S.I. 1: Sustainability in 
provision of retirement 
benefits

S.G. 1: To Enhance sus-
tainability in provision of 
retirement benefits

To achieve fi-
nancial growth 
and sustainabil-
ity;

Improved invest-
ment income

Identify opportuni-
ties for investment, 
diversify the in-
vestment portfo-
lios and monitor 
performance

Diversified investment 
to nine (9) portfolios 
consistent with RBA 
regulations 

Develop PSSF 
investment master 
plan

Investment policy 
Statement reviewed 
and Alternative invest-
ment strategy as well 
as Property Strategy 
developed 

Undertake mar-
ket evaluation to 
determine growth 
on investment and 
declare annual 
returns for accred-
itation to member 
accounts 

Undertook evaluation 
on investment perfor-
mance and declared 
investment returns of 
17.52% in FY 2024/2025

S.I. 2: Efficient pension 
administration struc-
tures and systems

S.G. 2: Strengthen the 
institutions pension ad-
ministration capacity;

To enhance 
efficiency and 
effectiveness 
in collection of 
contributions, 
records man-
agement and 
discharge of 
benefits;

Reduced turn- 
around time in 
payment of claims

Procure and 
onboard service 
providers to the 
scheme

Awarded contracts to 
local firms including 
PSSF four (4) fund Man-
agers (GenAfrica Asset 
managers Limited, San-
lam Investments East 
Africa, African Alliance, 
CorpTrust Investment 
services) three custodi-
ans (NCBA, Corporative 
Bank and KCB) and one 
firm (Zamara Actuaries, 
Administrators & con-
sultants limited) a data 
processing

Undertake review 
and document the 
claim payment 
process, 

Reduced the turn-
around time from 30 to 
20 days

Reengineer the 
process by under-
taking automation

Automated Finance, 
procurement, staff 
appraisal through 
activation respective 
modules on the PSSF 
ERP system

Enhance internal 
human capacity to 
process claims

Hired and deployed 
fortyfour (44) addition-
al staff to support the 
process

Initiated assump-
tion of internal 
administration of 
the fund  

Developed TOR, Pro-
cured and installed an 
internal administration 
system
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Strategic Issues/Goals Strategic 
Objective

Key Performance 
Indicators Activities Achievements

S.I. 3: Member-centric 
driven services

S.G. 3: To Transform 
member and stake-
holder experience;

To improve cus-
tomer experi-
ence;

Enhances access 
to services

Undertake mem-
ber training and 
capacity building

Held sensitization fo-
rums in 34 state depart-
ments and 47 counties 
where 16, 017 scheme 
members were reached 
out to

Process and timely 
pay claims 

Processed and paid 
797 members Kshs. 
143,854,178.60

Establish a cus-
tomer care desk 
and call centre

Customer care desk 
was established and 
a communication line 
dedicated 

Develop new pen-
sion products to 
enhance member 
choices upon exit-
ing the scheme

Two (2) Pension Products 
developed. The Products 
include:

1.	 Trust Fund 

2.	 PRMF product devel-
oped 

Undertake massive 
member regis-
tration to address 
data gaps

Received more that 
20,000-member registra-
tion forms set to under-
go digitization process

Receive and han-
dle all customer 
question and com-
plaints 

Received and resolved 
100% of the complaints 
received, developed and 
submitted quarterly 
reports to CAJ

To increase visi-
bility and corpo-
rate branding

Enhanced institu-
tional visibility and 
branding

Develop a commu-
nication policy

PSSF communication 
policy developed and 
approved 

Develop and 
disseminate PSSF 
Quarterly newslet-
ters 

Launched a quarterly 
newsletter to enhance 
communication with 
stakeholders

Register with inter-
national reputable 
bodies in the pen-
sion for enhanced 
stakeholder en-
gagement, leaning 
and replication of 
best practices

Registered with ISSA, 
ASSA, AVCA done to 

Two (2) bench marking 
tours have so far been 
done and lessons repli-
cated in terms of system 
development and adop-
tion of Fund administra-
tive approaches

Statement of Performance against Predetermined 
Objectives for FY 2024/25 (Continued)
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Statement of Performance against Predetermined 
Objectives for FY 2024/25 (Continued)

Strategic Issues/Goals Strategic 
Objective

Key Performance 
Indicators Activities Achievements

S.I. 3: Member-centric 
driven services

S.G. 3: To Transform 
member and stake-
holder experience;

To increase visi-
bility and corpo-
rate branding

Enhanced institu-
tional visibility and 
branding

Develop and oper-
ationalise commu-
nication system

Operationalized various 
information sharing plat-
forms (website, twitter, 
WhatsApp, shows Linke-
dIn, email,, webinars& 
exhibitions)

Digital platform estab-
lished with more than 20 
thousand followers

Undertake media 
campaigns to en-
hance visibility 

Held four (4) TV/Radio 
Talk shows on Spice FM/
TV and KBC where the 
public had an oppor-
tunity to engage PSSF 
through the show

Broadcast 3rd Annu-
al General Meeting 
through virtual, physical 
and KBC live coverage of 
AGM that was held on 11th 

December, 2024 to en-
hance wide participation

Undertake stake-
holder engage-
ment forums with 
key players in the 
Pension industry

Held eleven (11) webinar 
meeting where more 
than 1000 members of 
the scheme participated

Develop & dissem-
inate assorted IEC 
materials on vari-
ous PSSF products.

Developed & disseminat-
ed assorted IEC mate-
rials on various PSSF 
products. This included 
10,000-member hand-
books, 1000 copies of the 
Citizen Service delivery 
charter.
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Statement of Performance against Predetermined 
Objectives for FY 2024/25 (Continued)

Strategic Issues/Goals Strategic 
Objective

Key Performance 
Indicators Activities Achievements

S.I. 4: Business process 
efficiency

S.G. 4: To Institutional-
ize business transfor-
mation

To enhance 
business pro-
cesses efficiency

Enhanced effi-
ciency in service 
provisions

Acquire, Install and 
operationalize ERP 
system for PSSF

PSSF adopted an Enter-
prise resource planning 
(ERP) system to enhance 
service delivery. 

Revamp and con-
tinuously update 
PSSF website

Developed a functional 
website (www.psss.go.ke) 
for the PSSF.

Develop platforms 
to facilitate infor-
mation access by 
members 

Operated a functional 
USSD code (*378#) & por-
tal (members.psss.or.ke) 
where members can 
view their statements

To enhance 
internal risk 
management 
systems

Enhanced conti-
nuity in business    
processes

Undertake doc-
umentation and 
automation of 
business processes 

Documented and auto-
mated the payment and 
staff appraisal processes 
through ERP system

Undertake Audit 
and provide advi-
sory 

Internal audit of the 
PSSF systems and 
processes was under-
taken and an assurance 
provided on five critical 
functions 

Undertook initia-
tives to identify 
and manage risk

Developed, approved 
and operationalized the 
risk policy framework

S.I. 5: Corporate gov-
ernance and Human 
resource development

S.G. 5:  To
Strengthen institu-
tional capacity for 
enhanced service 
delivery

To strengthen 
Human Capital

Enhanced capacity 
to deliver the insti-
tutions mandate

Undertake staff 
capacity enhance-
ment initiatives

Recruited and deployed 
forty four (44) staff 

Review the Human 
resource instru-
ments

Undertook skills gap 
analysis, Training needs 
assessment and devel-
oped a training projec-
tion.

Developed a productivity 
index for the institution 

Review the Human 
resource instru-
ments

Undertook skills gap 
analysis, Training needs 
assessment and devel-
oped a training projec-
tion.

Developed a productivity 
index for the institution 

Improved working 
condition

Procure office 
premises and mi-
grate staff

Refurbished, equipped 
and occupied CBK 
pension towers 2nd floor 
offices staff 

Facilitate staff 
access to welfare 
services including 
pension and medi-
cal cover

Procured a pension 
scheme and health cover 
and onboarded PSSF 
staff and their beneficia-
ries 
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Statement of Performance against Predetermined 
Objectives for FY 2024/25 (Continued)

Strategic Issues/Goals Strategic 
Objective

Key Performance 
Indicators Activities Achievements

S.I. 5: Corporate gov-
ernance and Human 
resource development

S.G. 5:  To
Strengthen institu-
tional capacity for 
enhanced service 
delivery

To strength-
en the legal 
framework and 
Corporate Gov-
ernance

Improved corpo-
rate governance

Undertake initia-
tives to enhance 
corporate gover-
nance  

Developed and finalized 
18 policies including 
1.	 Anti-Money Launder-

ing and Economic 
Crimes Policy

2.	 Board Charter
3.	 Complaint handling 

and Dispute Resolu-
tion Policy 

4.	 Conflict of Interest 
Policy

5.	 Corporate Communi-
cation Policy 

6.	 Corporate Social Re-
sponsibility Policy

7.	 Data Protection Policy
8.	 Death Benefit Policy
9.	 Environmental, Social 

and Governance (ESG) 
Policy

10.	 Information, Commu-
nication and Technol-
ogy Policy

11.	 Interest Declaration & 
Reserve Policy

12.	 Member Education 
Policy

13.	 Performance Manage-
ment, Rewards and 
Sanctions Framework

14.	 Research Policy
15.	 Risk policy Framework
16.	 Staff Loan Policy
17.	 Transport Policy 
18.	 Whistleblowing Policy

Enhanced com-
pliance to policy, 
statutory and 
regulatory require-
ments

Develop and sub-
mit compliance 
reports to statuto-
ry bodies and lead 
agencies

Undertook Board eval-
uation, governance and 
legal Audits and imple-
mented recommenda-
tions   

Developed and submit-
ted statutory reports 
including audited finan-
cial statements, filing of 
quarterly reports to RBA 
as provided for in the 
law; Filing of tax returns

Organize and 
hold an AGM for 
Scheme members

PSSF held 3nd Annual 
General Meeting on 11th 

December, 2024 at KICC 
and streamed across 
three (3) platforms in-
cluding KBC TV channel, 
YouTube and Zoom
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Corporate Governance Statement 

Board of Trustee Composition

The Fund sets corporate governance at the centre of its activities to ensure that its operations align with the inter-
ests of its stakeholders. This governance model is inspired by the PSSS Act and Mwongozo the code of governance 
for State Corporations. At the top of the governance structure of the Fund lies the Board of Trustees which is con-
stituted with membership drawn from the workers’ Unions and employers. (TSC, Public Service, KNUT, KPPET and 
Police) and government. The board of 10 members, including the CEO, is responsible for the effectiveness of Board 
itself, transparency and disclosure practices of the Fund, accountability, risk management, internal controls, ethical 
leadership and good corporate citizenship of the Fund. During the year under review the following Trustees served 
in the Board of Trustees of the PSSS Fund.

S/N. Name of Trustee

Category
(Sponsor/Stakehold-
er/ Union Nominat-
ed)

Date of (Re) 
Appointment Gender Term TDPK

Certified

1 Hon. Wycliffe Wangamati Independent Appointed on 
7th June 2024 Male 1st Term Yes

2 Ms. Agnes Mwenda Union of Kenya Civil 
Servants

Re appointed on 
19th April 2024 Female 2nd Term Yes

3 Mr. David William Okoth Ochiel

Representing the 
Principal Secretary, 
State Department for 
Public Service

Appointed on 
19th April 2024 Male 1st Term Yes

4 Mr. Amos Cheptoo
Representing the 
Principal Secretary, 
National Treasury

Appointed on 
22nd July 2024 Male 1st Term Yes

5 Ms. Rosemary  Kuraru, EBS, ndc 
(k)

Inspector Gener-
al - National Police 
Service

Re-appointed 
on 19th April 
2024

Female 2nd Term Yes

6 Mr. Calvin Anyuor
Representing the 
Secretary, Teachers-
Service Commission

Appointed on 
19th April 2024 Male 1st Term Yes

7 Dr. Kiprono Philemon
Representing the-
Secretary, Public 
Service Commission

Appointed on 
19th April 2024 Male 1st Term Yes

8 Mr. Muuo Ndiku
Nominee of the Ken-
ya National Union of 
Teachers

Appointed on 
19th April 2024 Male 1st Term Yes

9 Mr. Wicks Njenga

Nominee of the 
Kenya Union of Post 
Primary Education 
Teachers

Appointed on 
19th April 2024 Male 2nd Term Yes

*Hon. Wangamati’s appointment lapsed on 27th June 2025
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Corporate Governance Statement (continued) 

Meetings

The Board of Trustees held 27 Full and special Board 
meeting for the year ended 30th June 2025.  The meet-
ings were held on the dates set out below

Full And Special Board Meeting

•	 18th July 2024  
•	 1st August 2024
•	 2nd  August 2024
•	 20th August 2024
•	 1st November 2024
•	 14th November 2024
•	 9th December 2024
•	 11th December 2024
•	 30th January 2025
•	 29th May 2025
•	 24th June 2025

Finance, Investment and  
Strategy Committee Meeting

•	 16th July 2024
•	 24th July 2024
•	 6th August 2024
•	 18th September 2024
•	 5th November 2024
•	 7th March 2025
•	 29th April 2025
•	 18th June 2025

Benefits Administration, HR And Governance 
Committee Meeting 

•	 19th August 2024
•	 6th November 2024
•	 30th April 2025

Risk, Audit and 
Compliance Commttee Meeting

 
•	 15th August 2024
•	 2nd December 2024
•	 1st April 2025
•	 27th May 2025

Joint Committee Meeting (Finance Investment & 
Strategy and Benefits Administration,
 HR & Governance Committee Meeting 

•	 28th January 2025

Roles and Functions of Trustees

The Board of Trustees is mandated to acquire, con-
trol, and supervise the assets of the Fund to promote 
its mission. It lays down policies and guidelines for the 
proper   operations and management of all the funds 
collected by the Fund. Moreover, the board hires senior 
staff approves contracts and other activities undertak-
en by the Management on behalf of the Fund whose 
value requires Board approval.

The board may appoint agents to perform any of its 
functions, including investing of funds that are not im-
mediately required for Fund activities, opening and op-
erating bank accounts for the Fund, and setting up and 
supporting Fund employee welfare system. The Board 
is also responsible for legal and ethical conduct of its 
Trustees, including on matters of conflict of interest, 
due diligence, and good corporate governance practic-
es.

Succession Planning and Board Charter

Members of the board are appointed in a staggered 
manner, this provides stability in oversight of the Fund 
by ensuring that there is always a proportion of trustees 
on the board with requisite institutional memory con-
cerning, not only the business of the Fund, but also its 
long-term strategic perspective. The board has a Board 
Charter and an approved Governance Framework. 
These provides trustees with the guiding principles to 
enable the effective discharge of their duties in over-
seeing the affairs of the Fund.

Removal of Trustees

The Cabinet Secretary responsible for Treasury can re-
move a trustee on a number of reasons including ab-
sence from Board meetings without the permission of 
the chairperson, bankruptcy, operation of the law, infir-
mity, criminal offence that questions his integrity stand-
ing.

Board Committees

The Board of Trustees has set up four principal Commit-
tees namely Finance, Investments and strategy, Bene-
fits, Audit & Risk and Human resource before revising 
the number to three committees. These committees 
meet under well-defined terms of reference set up by 
the full board. This is intended to achieve efficient deci-
sion making by the Board of Trustees in discharging its 
duties and responsibilities.



XXXI Annual Report & Financial Statements

Corporate Governance Statement (continued) 

The number of Board and Committee meetings held during the financial year 2024/2025 and attendance by indi-
vidual Trustees is summarized in the schedule below:

Trustee
Full Board

(Total No. Of 
Meetings 11) 

Finance, 
Investments 

&Strategy 
Committee
(Total No. Of 
Meetings 8)

Benefits, Ad-
ministration, Hr 
& Governance 

Committee
(Total No. Of 
Meetings 3)

Risk, Audit & 
Compliance 
Committee
(Total No. Of 
Meetings 4)

Joint Commit-
tee (Finance& 

Benefits)-
(Total No. Of 
Meetings 1

Wycliffe Wangamati 11

Agnes Mwenda 11 7 3 1

Michael Kagika, EBS 1 2

Dr. Philemon Kiprono 10 8 3 1

David William Okoth Ochiel 11 7 3 1

Cavin Anyuor 7 3 3 1

Ndiku Muuo 3 4 1 1

Wicks Mwethi Njenga 7 2 4 1

Rosemary Kuraru, EBS 10 3 4 1

Amos Cheptoo 9 6 3 1

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is the only mandatory committee of the board as per the corporate governance provisions 
shown in Mwongozo code of Governance. The committee is entrusted with the responsibility of ensuring overall 
compliance, governance and risk management. Specific roles include reviewing and approving the board charter, 
internal and external audit findings and preventive measures, systems and internal controls. The committee may 
also initiate special investigation of any allegations of malpractices within the Fund. The committee is guided by 
Audit Committee Charter.

Annual General Meetings

The Fund is required to hold annual general meetings as part of its corporate governance practice and in compli-
ance with the law and regulations as set up by the Retirement Benefits Authority the Fund has complied and held 
its AGM within the required time.

Board’s Work Plan

The Board of Trustees draws a work-plan that guides its annual work calendar. Special meetings are convened 
whenever an issue arises that need the board’s attention outside the annual work-plan. The Fund has four board 
committees established as per the descriptions of the Board Charter. The trustees’ remuneration is as per public 
service guidelines in compliance with the Sate Corporations Advisory Agency (SCAC) guidelines and the disclosure 
is in line with Mwongozo, the code of governance for State Corporations.

Capacity Building for Board of Trustees

During the year, Trustees were trained on the Trustee Development Programme (TDPK) and induction was done 
for new trustees.
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Management Discussion & Analysis

Economic performance

Kenya’s economy grew by 4.9% in 1Q25, supported by broad-based sectoral gains led by agriculture and public 
administration. The Stanbic PMI averaged 50.1 in 2Q25, down from 50.9 in 1Q25, signaling modest private sector ex-
pansion. The FY2025/26 budget rose 7.5% to KES 4.3trn, with recurrent expenditure rising to 73.2% of the total bud-
get, while revenue is projected to decline by 0.6% to KES 3.32trn. The fiscal deficit widened to KES 923.2bn (4.8% of 
GDP), with a shift in financing toward domestic borrowing (68.8%). The CBK cut the policy rate by 100bps to 9.75%, 
as inflation averaged 3.9% and the shilling held steady, gaining 0.1% q/q.

Currency - The Kenya shilling remained stable, gaining 0.1% q/q to close 2Q25 at 129.2, supported by forex reserves 
and export inflows. Year-on-year (y/y), the KES gained by 0.2% against the USD.

Inflation - In 2Q25, the headline inflation averaged 3.9%, up from 3.5% recorded in the previous quarter. The rise in 
overall inflation during the quarter was mainly driven by upticks in the Housing and Transport indices, which rose 
by 1.7% and 1.6% respectively. The food index also rose by 0.3% q/q.

Equities Market - In the second quarter of 2025, the stock market posted strong performance across all indices. 
The Nairobi All Share Index (NASI) gained 17.3% quarter-on-quarter (q/q), while the NSE 25, NSE 10, and NSE20 rose 
by 11.5%, 13.0%, and 9.6% q/q, respectively. All indices recorded double-digit gains on both a year-to-date and year-
on-year basis, supported by valuations, resilient corporate earnings, dividend declarations and improved sentiment 
toward frontier markets.
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Management Discussion & Analysis (continued) 

Operational and Financial Performance

The Fund’s operational and financial performance is based on the 2023-2027 strategic plan, Budget for 2024/2025, 
and the set targets. During the year ending 30 June 2025, contributions of Kes 52.7 billion were collected, this is a 
18% growth from Kes 44.71 billion collected in the previous year.

Benefit payments of Kes 154 million were paid during the year. This is a 153% increase in benefit claims paid in the 
previous year amounting to Kes 59.7million. The Fund realised net income from investments of Kes 25.3 billion, up 
from Kes 14.05 billion in the previous year. The Fund’s operating costs during the year amounted to Kes 708 million 
against Kes 424 million in the previous year. The Fund recorded a net increase in scheme funds of Kes 100.6 billion 
up from Kes 57.49 billion in the previous financial year. This was a good rebound compared with the poor market 
performance in the previous year.     From this performance, the fund value increased from Kes 142.2 billion to Kes 
242.87 billion as at 30 June 2025.

Active Employers and Members

Financial Year No of active members No. of active Employers

2021/2022 368,795 112

2022/2023 416,449 119

2023/2024 442,929 137

2024/2025 511,000 148

Investment Portfolio Distribution

 Assets Class Amount Kes % of Porfolio IPS Limit % RBA %

 Cash & Call Deposit 243,678,127 0.10% 0-4 5

 Fixed Deposit 608,940,116 0.26% 0-10 30

 T-Bills 9,744,475,103 4.17% 0-15 90

 Eurobonds   4,372,331,293 1.86% 0-5 15

 T- Bonds 188,325,759,150 80.26% 60-80 90

 Equity 16,751,882,669 7.14% 60-80 70

 Private Equity 5,415,535,249 2.31% 0-5 10

 Offshore 7,061,596,851 3.01% 0-5 15

 Real Estates (Batian) 2,093,289,848 0.89% 0-10 30

 Total 234,617,488,406 100.00%
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Management Discussion & Analysis (continued)

Investment Asset Growth Breakdown

The fund investment assets value increased from KES 132Bn in in FY 2024 to KES 234Bn in the FY 2025. This was due 
to higher net contribution amounting to KES 175 Bn during the year as well as an investment growth of KES 64Bn. 

Investment Portfolio Distribution
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The three-year average performance is 19.07%. 

Asset Allocation Changes Since Inception 

For the last four year the Fund has diversified its investment portfolio from one asset class to nine asset classes.

Management Discussion & Analysis (continued) 

Investment Asset Growth Breakdown (Continued) 
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Management Discussion & Analysis (continued)

Asset Allocation Changes Since Inception (continued)

Member Funds have grown steadily in the last four years from KES 44.31Bn in 2022 to KES 242.9Bn 2025 an annual 
growth rate of over 70% making it one of the fastest growing pension scheme in the country.
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Environmental & Sustainability Reporting

Public Service Superannuation Fund (PSSF) exists to transform lives. This is our purpose; the driving force behind 
everything we do. It’s what guides us to deliver our strategy, putting the customer/Citizen first, delivering relevant 
goods and services, and improving operational excellence. Below is an outline of the organization’s policies and 
activities that promote sustainability.

As part of our stewardship obligations and commitment to long-term value creation, PSSF continues to integrate 
Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) principles into investment strategies and operational practices.

Sustainability Strategy and Profile

Strategic Direction & Commitment

The PSSF is firmly committed to integrating sustainability across its core functions—fund management, pension 
administration, stakeholder engagement, and operational efficiency. This is embedded in its five-year Strategic 
Plan (2023–2027), which aligns with Kenya’s Vision 2030 and the UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).

		         Key strategic pillars:

Global Best Practices & Benchmarks

Our business directly and indirectly addresses some SDGs outlined as: ending poverty in all its forms everywhere 
(SDG1), ensuring healthy lives and promote well-being for all at all ages (SDG3), ensuring inclusive and  equitable 
quality education and promoting lifelong learning opportunities for all (SDG4), achieving gender equality and em-
powering all women and girls (SDG5), promoting sustained, inclusive and sustainable economic growth, full and 
productive employment and decent work for all (SDG8), and making cities and human settlements     inclusive, 
safe, resilient and sustainable (SDG11).

Integration of these principles has enhanced reporting rigor and stakeholder trust.

Economic inclusivity through 
responsible investing

Environmental stewardship 
and climate resilience

Transparent governance 
and social accountability
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Environmental & Sustainability Reporting (continued)

Political & Macroeconomic Influences

Kenya’s political landscape and macroeconomic factors 
have significantly shaped the Fund’s sustainability pri-
orities:

Trend
Impact on Sustainability 
Goals

Climate legislation 
reforms

Increased compliance bur-
den, investment screening

Devolution and pub-
lic sector growth

Expanded outreach in envi-
ronmental programs

Inflation & fiscal pres-
sures

Limited funding for infra-
structure upgrades

Political transitions Shifts in national climate 
investment priorities

PSSF continues to adapt through robust stakeholder 
dialogue and risk management practices.

(i) Environmental Performance

The Fund has been involved in activities that promote 
the management of biodiversity to reduce environmen-
tal impact of the Fund’s activities to the people. For in-
stance, the Fund is involved in tree planting campaigns 
in partnership with schools and others every year in 
compliance with Government’s tree planting initiatives. 
Further, the Fund has automated its processes hence 
reducing the use of paper in the office and the use of 
energy saving power bulbs. The Fund has an approved 
ESG policy.

(ii) Employee Welfare

Hiring Policies and Diversity Measures

PSSF adheres to merit-based, transparent recruitment 
practices aligned with the Kenya Public Service Com-
mission guidelines. Key features include:

•	 Gender Representation: Recruitment panels ac-
tively monitor gender ratios to ensure balanced 
shortlisting and hiring. PSSF targets a minimum 
30% gender representation across departments.

•	 Stakeholder Engagement: Hiring policies are re-
viewed bi-annually with input from staff unions, 
departmental heads, and relevant oversight bod-
ies.

•	 Inclusive Practices: Affirmative action policies 
support applications from marginalized commu-
nities and persons living with disabilities.

Employee Development and Career Management

PSSF prioritizes continuous learning, career advance-
ment, and skills development:

•	 Training Framework: Annual Training Needs As-
sessment (TNA) guides tailored courses in pen-
sions, finance, ESG, ICT, and leadership.

•	 Mentorship & Career Planning: A structured 
mentorship program pairs junior staff with expe-
rienced professionals to support personal growth.

•	 Promotion Pathways: Career progression is 
mapped in line with a competency-based frame-
work and guided by internal job grading criteria.

•	 Education Support: Staff pursuing professional 
certifications or postgraduate studies may access 
tuition reimbursement upon approval.

Appraisal and Reward Systems

Performance management at PSSF follows the Kenya 
Public Service Performance Appraisal System (PAS):

•	 Bi-Annual Performance Reviews: Supervisors 
and employees jointly set deliverables and review 
progress.

•	 Recognition Awards: High-performing employ-
ees are acknowledged through non-financial 
awards, public recognition, and eligibility for pro-
motion.

•	 Pay-for-Performance: Exceptional appraisal 
scores may translate into bonus allocations de-
pending on available funding and policy approv-
als.

Workplace Safety & Legal Compliance

PSSF remains committed to providing a safe and com-
pliant working environment:

•	 OSH Policy: The organization is fully compliant 
with the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 
2007 (OSHA), including mandatory risk assess-
ments and mitigation protocols.

•	 Safety Training: All staff undergo periodic OSH 
training, with emergency drills conducted quar-
terly.

•	 Health Monitoring: Employees are covered un-
der medical insurance; workplace ergonomics 
and wellness assessments are carried out annu-
ally.

•	 Incident Reporting: A confidential whistleblow-
ing and incident reporting channel is in place to 
capture any OSH violations or concerns.

Policy Review and Enhancement

All welfare policies—including hiring, safety, and de-
velopment—are reviewed every three years, or sooner 
if triggered by legislative changes, audit findings, or 
stakeholder feedback
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Environmental & Sustainability Reporting (continued)

(iii) Market Place Practices

Responsible Competition Practices

PSSF upholds ethical business conduct and fair market 
engagement through the following mechanisms:

Anti-Corruption Measures:

•	 Full compliance with the Leadership and Integri-
ty Act (2012) and the Bribery Act (2016).

•	 Regular ethics training for staff, vendors, and 
Board members.

•	 An internal audit and whistle blower system en-
sure accountability in procurement and partner 
engagement.

Political Neutrality:

•	 PSSF maintains a non-partisan stance in all busi-
ness activities.

•	 Employees are prohibited from using organiza-
tional assets for political campaigning.

•	 Disclosures are made per Public Service Com-
mission guidelines to prevent undue political in-
fluence.

Fair Competition and Respect for Peers:

•	 No engagement in price fixing, bid rigging or 
market exclusion.

•	 Institutional policies discourage disparagement 
of peer funds and competitors.

•	 Collaboration with industry associations to set 
ethical standards for pension services.

Responsible Supply Chain and Supplier Relations

PSSF’s supply chain is anchored in transparency, fair en-
gagement, and respect for contractual obligations

Procurement Ethics:

•	 Adheres to the Public Procurement and Asset 
Disposal Act of 2015.

•	 All tenders are publicly advertised and adjudicat-
ed on merit.

•	 Suppliers must comply with PSSF’s Code of Con-
duct including labor and environmental stan-
dards.

Supplier Engagement:

•	 Contract terms are honoured with timely pay-

ments and dispute resolution mechanisms.

•	 Supplier performance reviews are conducted 
bi-annually and shared transparently.

•	 Preference given to local and women-led enter-
prises in certain procurement categories.

Responsible Marketing and Advertisement

Although PSSF operates in a largely non-commercial 
environment, marketing and outreach activities align 
with public sector integrity standards:

Transparent Communications:

•	 All promotional content undergoes vetting by 
the Corporate Affairs Unit for factual accuracy 
and appropriateness.

•	 Outreach campaigns avoid misleading claims 
and are supported by verified data.

Ethical Representation:

•	 Marketing materials reflect cultural sensitivity 
and avoid exploitative messaging.

•	 Digital communication is aligned with national 
cyber ethics guidelines.

Product Stewardship

PSSF ensures the protection of member rights and fi-
duciary responsibility through:

Consumer Rights Protection:

•	 Members have access to grievance redress mech-
anisms, pension calculators, and contact centre’s.

•	 All changes to fund rules or benefits are commu-
nicated clearly and in advance.

Continuous Improvement:

•	 Regular stakeholder feedback is collected to en-
hance pension product delivery.

•	 Investment products undergo ESG screening to 
ensure social and environmental safeguards.

Data Privacy & Security:

•	 Member data is secured under the Data Protec-
tion Act (2019).

•	 Cybersecurity protocols and staff awareness 
training are routinely updated.
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Environmental & Sustainability Reporting (continued)

(iv) Corporate Social Responsibility / Community 	
       Engagements 

CSR Philosophy

The Public Service Superannuation Fund (PSSF) con-
tinued to deepen its commitment to national develop-
ment by implementing Corporate Social Responsibility 
(CSR) initiatives aligned with its mandate, the Kenya 
Vision 2030, and the United Nations Sustainable Devel-
opment Goals (SDGs). In line with its CSR Policy, PSSF 
dedicated KES 5 million (within the allowable 1% of the 
annual budget allocation) toward sustainable com-
munity development and environmental conservation 
across the country.

a)  Education and Infrastructure Development

PSSF refurbished classrooms at Kamwago Compre-
hensive School in Elgeyo Marakwet County at a cost 
of KES 1,607,430.00, benefiting over 200 students. The 
renovations included new floors, desks, and learning 
resources. The project was launched in a high-profile 
event attended by the Principal Secretary for National 
Treasury and other dignitaries. The initiative was also 
supported by the KASNEB Foundation, which donated 
KES 250,000 and 100 desks, and the Kenya Literature 
Bureau, which provided curriculum textbooks.

Construction of Classrooms – Karare and Ereri

During the Financial year the Fund constructed a new 
classroom at Karare Primary School at a cost of KES 
1,153,280.00, addressing infrastructure gaps in Marsabit 
County.

The Fund also constructed a new classroom at Ereri 
Baptist Comprehensive School in Laikipia County at a 
cost of KES 1,240,061.90.

These educational interventions reflect PSSF’s vision to 
improve learning environments and promote equitable 
access to education in underserved areas.

b). Environmental Sustainability and Climate Action

Recognizing the urgency of climate change, PSSF in-
vested in several tree-planting initiatives in partnership 
with the Kenya Forest Service (KFS) and other national 
stakeholders:

i.	 Simotwo Forest (Kaptagat Annual Tree Growing 
Event) – KES 400,000.00 Participated in the 9th An-
nual Kaptagat Tree Growing Event in Elgeyo Marak-
wet, presided over by H.E. President Dr. William 
Ruto.

ii.	 Sorget Forest (Kericho County) – KES 319,228.10. 
Funded the planting of 17,000 seedlings on a 12.5ha 
parcel in collaboration with KFS.

iii.	 Kaptagat Forest – KES 250,000.00 Additional sup-
port was provided for continued conservation ef-
forts.

iv.	 Geta Forest (Nyandarua County) – KES 30,000.00 
Supported community-driven tree planting efforts.

v.	

These environmental efforts are consistent with the 
Fund’s CSR Policy objectives and national climate goals.

PSSF Board of Trustees present a dummy cheque to the National Treasury 
Principal Secretary Dr Chris Kiptoo during the launch of the renovated class-

room at Kamwago Comprehensive School, Elgeyo Marakwet County

Head of Public Service Mr Felix Koskei and PSSF CEO Dr Jonah Aiyabei plant 
a tree during the 9th Edition of the Annual Kaptagat Integrated Conserva-

tion Program

PSSF staff pose for a photo with the former Economic Planning Principal 
Secretary Mr James Muhati during a tree planting activity in  Geta Forest, 

Nyandarua
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Report of the Trustees

The Trustees submit their report together with the audited financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2025, 
which show the state of the Public Service Superannuation Fund affairs.

i) Principal activities

The principal activities of the Fund continue to be:

a.	 Pay retirement benefits to members of the Fund;

b.	 Ensure timely payments of benefits to members as and when they become due;

c.	 Improve the social security of members; and

d.	 Establish a uniform set of rules, regulation and standards for the administration and payment of retire-
ment benefits for members of the Fund.

ii) Results

The results of the entity for the year ended June 30, 2025, are set out on page 1.

iii) Dividends

Public Service Superannuation Fund (PSSF) did not make any surplus during the year ended 30th June 2025 and 
hence no remittance to the Consolidated Fund.

iv) Trustees

The Trustees who served during the year are shown on page VII.

v) Auditors

The Auditor-General is responsible for the statutory audit of the Public Service Superannuation Fund (PSSF) in ac-
cordance with Article 229 of the Constitution of Kenya and the section 23 of the Public Audit Act, 2015.

By Order of the Board

Dr. Jonah Aiyabei PhD
Secretary to the Board
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Statement of Trustees’ Responsibilities

Section 81 of the Public Finance Management Act, 2012 and Section 44 of the Public Service Superannuation 
Scheme Act, 2012 require the Trustees to prepare financial statements in respect of the Fund, which give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the Fund at the end of the financial year/period and the operating results of the 
Fund for that year/period. The Trustees are also required to ensure that the Fund keeps proper accounting records 
which disclose with reasonable accuracy the financial position of the Fund. The Trustees are also responsible for 
safeguarding the assets of the Fund.

The Trustees are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Fund’s financial statements, which give 
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Fund for and as at the end of the financial year (period) ended on 
June 30, 2025. This responsibility includes: 

i.	 Maintaining adequate financial management arrangements and ensuring that these continue to be 
effective throughout the reporting period,

ii.	 Maintaining proper accounting records, which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the fi-
nancial position of the entity,

iii.	 Designing, implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair pre-
sentation of the financial statements, and ensuring that they are free from material misstatements, 
whether due to error or fraud, 

iv.	 Safeguarding the assets of the Fund, 

v.	 Selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies, and 

vi.	 Making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

The Trustees accept responsibility for PSSF’s Financial Statements, which have been prepared using appropriate 
accounting policies, supported by reasonable and prudent judgement and estimates, in conformity with Interna-
tional Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS), and in the manner required by the Public Finance Manage-
ment Act, 2012, the Public Service Superannuation Scheme Act, 2012 and the Retirement Benefits Act 1997. 

The Trustees are of the opinion that these Financial Statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Fund’s 
transactions during the financial year ended June 30, 2025, and of the Fund’s financial position as at that date. 

The Trustees further confirm the completeness of the accounting records maintained for the Fund, which have 
been relied upon in the preparation of the Fund’s financial statements as well as the adequacy of systems of inter-
nal financial control. Nothing has come to the attention of the Trustees to indicate that the Fund will not remain a 
going concern for at least the next twelve months from the date of this statement.

Approval of the financial statements

The Fund’s financial statements were approved by the Board on 19/08/2025 and signed on its behalf by:

Hon. Amb. Tuneiya Hussein Dado	  			   Dr. Jonah Aiyabei PhD
Chairman of the Board						     Chief Executive Officer
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Preamble

I draw your attention to the contents of my report which is in three parts: 

a.	 Report on Financial Statements that considers whether the financial statements are fairly presented 
in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework, accounting standards and the rele-
vant laws and regulations that have a direct effect on the financial statements;

b.	 Report on Lawfulness and Effectiveness in the Use of Public Resources which considers compliance 
with applicable laws, regulations, policies, gazette notices, circulars, guidelines and manuals and 
whether public resources are applied in a prudent, efficient, economic, transparent and accountable 
manner to ensure the Government achieves value for money and that such funds are applied for the 
intended purpose; and,

c.	 Report on Effectiveness of Internal Controls, Risk Management and Governance which considers how 
the entity has instituted checks and balances to guide internal operations. This responds to the effec-
tiveness of the governance structure, risk management environment and internal controls, developed 
and implemented by those charged with governance for orderly, efficient and effective operations of 
the entity.

An Unmodified Opinion is issued when the Auditor-General concludes that the financial statements are fairly 
presented in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework. The Report on Financial Statements 
should be read together with the Report on Lawfulness and Effectiveness in the Use of Public Resources, and the 
Report on Effectiveness of Internal Controls, Risk Management, and Governance. 

The three parts of the report aim to address the Auditor-General’s statutory roles and responsibilities as provided by 
Article 229 of the Constitution, the Public Finance Management Act, 2012, and the Public Audit Act, 2015. The three 
parts of the report when read together constitute the report of the Auditor-General.

Report On The Financial Statements

Opinion

I have audited the accompanying financial statements of Public Service Superannuation Fund set out on pages 1 to 
23, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 30 June, 2025, the statement of changes in net assets 
available for benefits, statement of cash flows and statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts for the 
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information in accor-
dance with the provisions of Article 229 of the Constitution of Kenya and Section 35 of the Public Audit Act, 2015. I 
have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of my knowledge and belief, were necessary 
for the purpose of the audit. 

In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Public Ser-
vice Superannuation Fund as at 30 June, 2025, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then 
ended, in accordance with International Public Sector Accounting Standards (Accrual Basis) and comply with the 
Public Finance Management Act, 2012 and the Public Service Superannuation Scheme Act, 2012.

Report of the Independent Auditor  
on the Financial statements For the year ended 30 June 2025 

Anniversary Towers
Monrovia Street
P. O Box 30084-00100
NAIROBI
+254-(20) 3214000
info@oagkenya.go.ke 
www.oagkenya.go.ke
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Report of the Independent Auditor  (continued) 
on the Financial statements For the year ended 30 June 2025 

Report On The Financial Statements  (Continued)

Basis for Opinion 

The audit was conducted in accordance with International Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions (ISSAls). I am 
independent of the Public Service Superannuation Fund Management in accordance with ISSAI 130 on the Code 
of Ethics. I have fulfilled other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the ISSAI and in accordance with other 
ethical requirements applicable to performing audits of financial statements in Kenya. I believe that the audit evi-
dence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. 

Emphasis of Matter 

Budgetary Control and Performance 

The statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts reflects actual receipts of Kshs. 77,899,755,972 against 
final budget of Kshs. 44,005,064,395 resulting in excess receipts of Kshs. 33,894,691,577 or 77% of the budget. 

Further, the statement reflects actual total expenditure of Kshs.561,644,283 against final budgeted expenditure of 
Kshs.662,095,733 resulting in under-absorption of Kshs.100,451,450 or 15% of the budget. 

The over collection and under expenditure is an indication of weakness in the budget making process and that 
some activities in the annual work plan were not implemented by the Fund which may have impacted negatively 
on the service delivery to the public.

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in my professional judgment, are of most significance in the audit of the 
financial statements. There were no key audit matters to report in the year under review. 

Other Information 

The Trustees are responsible for the Other Information set out on page V to XLIII, which comprise of Key Entity 
Information, the Board of Trustees, Key Management Team, Fiduciary Management, Fiduciary Oversight Arrange-
ments, Chairman’s Statement, Report of the Chief Executive Officer, Statement of Performance against Predeter-
mined Objectives, Corporate Governance Statement, Management Discussion and Analysis, Environmental and 
Sustainability Reporting, Report of the Trustees, and Statement of Trustees Responsibilities. The Other Information 
does not include the financial statements and my auditor’s report thereon. 

In connection with my audit of the Fund’s financial statements, my responsibility is to read the Other Information 
and in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or 
my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If based on the work I have 
performed, I conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other Information, I am required to report that 
fact. I have nothing to report in this regard. 

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the Other Information and accordingly, I do not express an 
audit opinion or any form of assurance thereon.
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Report of the Independent Auditor  (continued) 
on the Financial statements For the year ended 30 June 2025 

Report on Lawfulness and Effectiveness in use Of Public Resources

Conclusion 

As required by Article 229(6) of the Constitution, based on the audit procedures performed, except for the effect of 
the matters described in the Basis for Conclusion on Lawfulness and Effectiveness in the Use of Public Resources 
section of my report, I confirm that nothing else has come to my attention to cause me to believe that public re-
sources have not been applied lawfully and in an effective way.

Basis for Conclusion 

1. Unremitted Pension -Employer Contributions

The statement of financial position and, as disclosed in Note 16 to financial statements, reflects a balance of 
Kshs.10,606,767,006 in respect of contributions receivable which relates to unremitted employer and employee 
contributions due to the Fund as at 30 June, 2025. Out of the outstanding amount, Kshs.9,385,345,050 had been 
received by the end of August, 2025 leaving a balance of Kshs.1,221,421,956 as unremitted. This is contrary to Section 
8(c) of the Public Service Superannuation Scheme Act, 2012 which states that, not later than ten working days after 
the end of the month in which the contributions are due, the Government shall remit an amount comprising the 
member’s and the Government’s contribution to the custodian. Unless the outstanding balance is paid together 
with the penalty provided for under Section 6(2) of the Public Service Superannuation Scheme Act, 2012, contribu-
tors stand to lose returns that would have been earned had the contributions been received in time. 

In the circumstances, Management was in breach of the law. 

2. Non-compliance with the Law on Affirmative Action

Review of the Fund’s staff establishment revealed that out of the total number of sixty two (62) employees, none of 
the employees was under people living with disability category, contrary to Section 13 of the Persons with Disabili-
ties Act, 2003 which requires reservation of at least 5% of employees for persons with disabilities. 

In the circumstances, Management was in breach of the law.

3. Board Meetings Exceeding the Required Number

During the year under review, the Fund’s Board and its Finance, Investment and Strategy Committee held elev-
en (11) and seven (7) meetings respectively, contrary to Circular Ref. OP/CAB.9/1A of 11 March, 2020 which restricts 
Board meetings to a minimum of four (4) and a maximum of six (6) for each financial year. Management did not 
provide evidence of approval of the extra meetings by the Cabinet Secretary as required by the Circular. 

In the circumstances, Management was in breach of the law.

4. Failure to Adhere to the Gender Rule on Appointments

Review of the composition of Fund’s Board of Trustees revealed that during the year under review, the Fund had 
nine (9) Board of Trustees members out of whom seven (7) or 77% were of the same gender, contrary to the require-
ments of Article 27(8) of the Constitution of Kenya on equality and freedom from discrimination, which provides 
that no more than two-thirds of the members of elective or appointive bodies shall be of the same gender. 

In the circumstances, Management was in breach of the law. 

The audit was conducted in accordance with ISSAI 3000 and ISSAI 4000. The standards require that I comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain assurance about whether the activities, financial 
transactions and information reflected in the financial statements comply in all material respects, with the author-
ities that govern them. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my conclusion.
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Report of the Independent Auditor  (continued) 
on the Financial statements For the year ended 30 June 2025 

Report on Effectiveness Of Internal Controls, Risk Management and Governance

Conclusion  

As required by Section 7(1 )(a) of the Public Audit Act, 2015 and based on the audit procedures performed, except 
for the effects -of the matter described in the Basis for Conclusion on the Effectiveness of Internal Controls, Risk 
Management and Governance section of my report, I confirm that nothing else has come to my attention to cause 
me to believe that internal controls, risk management and governance were not effective.

Basis for Conclusion 

Inadequate Controls on Members’ Fund 

The statement of financial position reflects members fund balance of Kshs.224,735,988,305. However, the following 
anomalies were noted:

i.	 Section 35 of the Public Services Superannuation Scheme Act, 2012 requires the Fund administrator 
to register members. However, review of the Fund administrator’s system revealed that the following 
critical information was missing: Fund pension status, contribution amount, date of normal retire-
ment, other personal data including contacts, class, workstation, designation, next of kin and employ-
ment history.

ii.	 Review of member balances provided for audit revealed that 16,701 members had no gender status, 
194 were above 60 years old but were still active members, 13 had no sponsors while 1 had no personal 
number.

In the circumstances, existence of an effective controls on member details and data could not be confirmed. 

The audit was conducted in accordance with ISSAI 2315 and ISSAI 2330. The standards require that I plan and 
perform the audit to obtain assurance about whether effective processes and systems of internal controls, risk 
Management and overall governance were operating effectively in all material respects. I believe that the audit 
evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my conclusion.

Responsibilities of Management and the Board of Trustees 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with International Public Sector Accounting Standards (Accrual Basis), and for maintaining effective internal con-
trols as Management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal con-
trols, risk management and governance. 

In preparing the financial statements, Management is responsible for assessing the Fund’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless Management is aware of the intention to terminate the Fund or cease operations. 

Management is also responsible for the submission of the financial statements to the Auditor-General in accor-
dance with the provisions of Section 47 of the Public Audit Act, 2015. 

In addition to the responsibility for the preparation and presentation of the financial statements described above, 
Management is also responsible for ensuring that the activities, financial transactions and information reflected in 
the financial statements are in compliance with the authorities which govern them, and that public resources are 
applied in an effective way. 

The Board of Trustees is responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting process, reviewing the effective-
ness of how Management monitors compliance with relevant legislative and regulatory requirements, ensuring 
that effective processes and systems are in place to address key roles and responsibilities in relation to overall gov-
ernance and risk management, and ensuring the adequacy and effectiveness of the control environment.
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Report of the Independent Auditor  (continued) 
on the Financial statements For the year ended 30 June 2025 

Auditor-General’s Responsibilities for the Audit 

My responsibility is to conduct an audit of the financial statements in accordance with Article 229(4) of the Con-
stitution, Section 35 of the Public Audit Act, 2015 and the International Standards for Supreme Audit Institutions 
(ISSAls). The standards require that, in conducting the audit, I obtain reasonable assurance about whether the fi-
nancial statements as a whole are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes my opinion in accordance with Section 48 of the Public Audit Act, 2015. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISSAls 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are con-
sidered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

In conducting the audit, Article 229(6) of the Constitution also requires that I express a conclusion on whether or 
not in all material respects, the activities, financial transactions and information reflected in the financial state-
ments are in compliance with the authorities that govern them and that public resources are applied in an effec-
tive way. In addition, I consider the entity’s control environment in order to give an assurance on the effectiveness 
of internal controls, risk management and governance processes and systems in accordance with the provisions of 
Section 7(1 )(a) of the Public Audit Act, 2015. 

Further, I am required to submit the audit report in accordance with Article 229(7) of the Constitution. 

Detailed description of my responsibilities for the audit is located at the Office of the Auditor-General’s website at: 
https://www.oagkenya.go.ke/auditor-generalsresponsibilities-for-audit/. This description forms part of my auditor’s 
report. 

FCPA Nancy Gathungu, CBS
Auditor-General
Nairobi
29 September, 2025

https://www.oagkenya.go.ke/auditor-generals-responsibilities-for-audit/
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Statement of Changes in Net Assets Available for Benefits  
For the year ended 30 June 2025 

Description Note
2025
Kshs

2024
Kshs

Net assets available for benefits(at the begin-
ning of the year) 142,224,579,990 84,736,378,796

Dealings with Members

Contributions receivable 6 52,653,228,071 44,706,025,675

Benefits paid and Payable 7 (154,969,119) (59,499,485)

Net Surplus from dealings with members 52,498,258,952 44,646,526,190

Return on Investments

Investment Income 8 25,246,527,901 14,093,232,894

Fair value gain/loss on revaluation of Investments 9 24,039,432,141 (601,304,661)

Investment Management Expenses 10 (493,585,038) (267,322,837)

Total Net Return on Investments 48,792,375,004 13,224,605,396

Operating expenses

Staff Costs 11 (113,249,315) (57,204,243)

Administration Costs 12 (600,653,814) (309,618,473)

Total operating expenses (713,903,129) (366,822,716)

Increase in Net Assets before Tax for the Year 100,576,730,827 57,504,308,870

Tax expense 13 (33,186,754) (16,107,676)

Increase in Net Assets for the Year 100,543,544,073 57,488,201,194

Net Assets available for benefits 242,768,124,063 142,224,579,990

The financial statements were approved by the Board on 19/08/2025 and signed on its behalf by:

Amb. Tuneiya Hussein Dado		  Dr. Jonah Aiyabei PhD		  Obed Mbuvi        
Chairman of the Board			  C.E.O            			   Head of Finance                                   
									         ICPAK M/NO:5891
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Statement of Financial Position 
as at 30 June 2025

Description Note
2025
Kshs

2024
Kshs

Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalent 14 2,036,668,319 9,822,795,765

Plan Investments

Treasury Bills 15 9,744,475,103 24,821,597,207

Treasury Bonds 15 188,325,759,150 100,386,817,011

Quoted Investments 15b 16,751,882,669 4,392,106,669

Private Equities 15 5,415,532,568 0

Offshores 15 7,061,595,435 0

Investment Property 15 2,093,289,893 0

Eurobond 15 4,372,331,293 2,155,352,331

Total Plan Investments 233,764,866,111 131,755,873,218

Accrued interest and dividends receivable 16 236,964,825 57,789,600

Contributions receivable 16 10,606,767,006 3,205,373,558

Trade And Other Receivables 16 15,606,628 12,476,131

10,859,338,459 3,275,639,289

Other assets

Property, Plant And Equipment 17 229,774,320 116,626,618

Total Assets 229,774,320 116,626,618

Liabilities

Tax Payable 18 15,468,311 14,008,325

Trade and Other Payables 19 4,107,054,789 2,732,346,575

Total Liabilities 4,122,523,100 2,746,354,900

Net Assets available for benefit as at 30th June 242,768,124,109 142,224,579,990

Represented By:

Members Fund 224,735,988,305 143,122,496,742

Reserves 108,898,868 108,898,868

Revaluation reserve 20 17,923,236,936 -1,006,815,620

Fund Value as at 30th June 242,768,124,109 142,224,579,990

The financial statements were approved by the Board on 19/08/2025 and signed on its behalf by:

Amb. Tuneiya Hussein Dado		  Dr. Jonah Aiyabei PhD		  Obed Mbuvi        
Chairman of the Board			  C.E.O            			   Head of Finance                                   
									         ICPAK M/NO:5891
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Statement of Cash Flows  
For the year ended 30 June 2025 

Description Note
2025
Kshs

2024
Kshs

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts

Contributions 6b 45,251,834,623 50,119,363,539

Interest received 8c 24,894,067,803 12,140,268,626

Dividends 8c 666,332,837 116,618,340

Total cash inflows 70,812,235,263 62,376,250,505

Payments

Benefits paid 7b (155,489,335) (58,979,328)

Taxation paid 18 (31,726,768) (4,479,039)

Operational and administrative Expenses paid (988,881,822) (309,862,919)

Total cash outflow (1,176,097,925) (373,321,286)

Net Cash inflows/(outflows) from operating activities 69,636,137,338 62,002,929,219

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 17 (171,354,993) (76,773,992)

Purchase of intangible assets - (42,085,437)

Property Fund 15 (2,000,000,000) -

Purchase of treasury bills 15 (10,836,725,500) (28,774,876,885)

Proceeds from sale of treasury bills 15 25,173,298,053 11,470,512,239

Purchase of treasury bonds 15 (85,885,391,984) (29,216,462,754)

Proceeds from sale of treasury bonds 15 18,626,759,203 47,050,000

Purchase of quoted investments 15b (8,032,857,855) (3,967,549,951)

Purchase of Eurobond investments 15 (2,359,232,477) (2,338,531,785)

Proceeds from disposal of Eurobond investments 15 150,525,730 -

Purchase of offshore investments 15 (6,465,753,665) -

Purchase of private equities 15 (5,175,920,000) -

Investment related expenses (445,611,297) (185,571,316)

Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities (77,422,264,785) (53,084,289,881)

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (7,786,127,447) 8,918,639,338

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 9,822,795,766 904,156,428

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 2,036,668,319 9,822,795,766
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Statement of Comparison of Budget & Actual Amounts 
For the year ended 30 June 2025 

Description
Description

Kshs
Adjustments

Kshs
Final budget

Kshs

Actual on com-
parable basis

Kshs

Performance 
difference

Kshs
% of utiliza-

tion

a b c = a + b d E= c - d d/c%

Budget carryovers 145,376,484 145,376,484 0 145,376,484 0%

Receipts

Contributions 
receivable 43,200,000,000 - 43,200,000,000 52,653,228,071 -9,453,228,071 122%

Investment           
income 805,064,395 - 805,064,395 25,246,527,901 -24,441,463,506 3136%

Total Receipts 44,005,064,395 0 44,005,064,395 77,899,755,972 -33,894,691,577 177%

      

Payments       

Staff Cost 99,804,322 35,943,936 135,748,258 113,249,315 22,498,943 83%

Administration 
Cost 228,889,075 31,000,000 259,889,075 261,483,467 -1,594,392 101%

BOT COST 19,562,400 10,000,000 29,562,400 29,537,282 25,118 100%

      

Total Payments 348,255,797 76,943,936 425,199,733 404,270,064 20,929,669  

Capital Expendi-
ture 226,896,000 10,000,000 236,896,000 157,374,219 79,521,781 66%

Surplus for the 
period 43,429,912,598 -86,943,936 43,342,968,662 77,338,111,689 -33,995,143,027  

•	 The budget administration cost excludes Fund Management fees, administration fees and RBA levy

•	 The over absorption of administration cost is due to depreciation
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2025 

1. General Information

Public Service Superannuation Fund (PSSF) is established by and derives its authority and accountability from Pub-
lic Service Superannuation Scheme Act No. 8 of 2012. The Fund is wholly owned by the Government of Kenya and 
is domiciled in Kenya. The PSSF’s principal activity is  to execute their mandate as per the PSSS Act.

2. Statement of Compliance and Basis of Preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for the measurement at re-valued 
amounts of certain items of property, plant and equipment, marketable securities and financial instruments at fair 
value, impaired assets at their estimated recoverable amounts and actuarially determined liabilities at their pres-
ent value. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with International Public Sector Accounting Stan-
dards (IPSAS) allows the use of estimates and assumptions. It also requires management to exercise judgement in 
the process of applying the entity’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or com-
plexity, or where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in Note . The 
financial statements have been prepared and presented in Kenya Shillings, which is the functional and reporting 
currency of the entity, and all values are rounded off to the nearest Kenya shillings. The financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with the PFM Act, the State Corporations Act (include any other applicable legisla-
tion), and International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS). The accounting policies adopted have been 
consistently applied to all the years presented.

3. The Fund applied the New and Revised International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS)

i.	 New and amended standards and interpretations in issue effective in the year ended 30 June 2025.

There were no new and amended standards issued in the financial year.

ii.	 New and amended standards and interpretations in issue but not yet effective in the year ended 30 
June 2025

Standard Effective date and impact: 

IPSAS 43:
Leases 

Applicable 1st January 2025 

The standard sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presenta-
tion, and disclosure of leases. The objective is to ensure that lessees and lessors pro-
vide relevant information in a manner that faithfully represents those transactions. 
This information gives a basis for users of financial statements to assess the effect 
that leases have on the financial position, financial performance and cashflows of 
an Entity. 

The new standard requires entities to recognize, measure and present information 
on right of use assets and lease liabilities.  

IPSAS 44: 
Non- Current Assets Held 
for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations 

Applicable 1st January 2025 

The Standard requires, 

Assets that meet the criteria to be classified as held for sale to be measured at the 
lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell and the depreciation of 
such assets to cease and: 

Assets that meet the criteria to be classified as held for sale to be presented sepa-
rately in the statement of financial position and the results of discontinued opera-
tions to be presented separately in the statement of financial performance.   
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2025 

3. The Fund applied the New and Revised International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS) (contin-
ued)

Standard Effective date and impact: 

IPSAS 45: 
Property Plant and 
Equipment 

Applicable 1st January 2025 

The standard supersedes IPSAS 17 on Property, Plant and Equipment. IPSAS 45 has 
additional guidance/ new guidance for heritage assets, infrastructure assets and 
measurement. Heritage assets were previously excluded from the scope of IPSAS 
17 in IPSAS 45, heritage assets that satisfy the definition of PPE shall be recognised 
as assets if they meet the criteria in the standard. IPSAS 45 has an additional appli-
cation guidance for infrastructure assets, implementation guidance and illustrative 
examples. The standard has clarified existing principles e.g. valuation of land over or 
under the infrastructure assets, under- maintenance of assets and distinguishing 
significant parts of infrastructure assets. 

IPSAS 46: 
Measurement 

Applicable 1st January 2025 

The objective of this standard was to improve measurement guidance across IPSAS 
by: 

i.	 Providing further detailed guidance on the implementation of commonly used 
measurement bases and the circumstances under which they should be used. 

ii.	 Clarifying transaction costs guidance to enhance consistency across IPSAS. 

iii.	 Amending where appropriate guidance across IPSAS related to measurement 
at recognition, subsequent measurement and measurement related disclo-
sures. 

The standard also introduces a public sector specific measurement bases called 
the current operational value. 

IPSAS 47:
Revenue 

Applicable 1st January 2026 

This standard supersedes IPSAS 9- Revenue from exchange transactions, IPSAS 11 
Construction contracts and IPSAS 23 Revenue from non- exchange transactions. 
This standard brings all the guidance of accounting for revenue under one stan-
dard. The objective of the standard is to establish the principles that an entity shall 
apply to report useful information to users of financial statements about the na-
ture, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flow arising from reve-
nue transactions.

IPSAS 48: 
Transfer Expenses

Applicable 1st January 2026 

The objective of the standard is to establish the principles that a transfer provid-
er shall apply to report useful information to users of financial statements about 
the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of expenses and cash flow arising 
from transfer expense transactions. This is a new standard for public sector enti-
ties geared to provide guidance to entities that provide transfers on accounting for 
such transfers. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2025 

3. The Fund applied the New and Revised International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS) (contin-
ued)

Standard Effective date and impact: 

IPSAS 49: 
Retirement Benefit Plans 

Applicable 1st January 2026 

The objective is to prescribe the accounting and reporting requirements for the 
public sector retirement benefit plans which provide retirement to public sector 
employees and other eligible participants. The standard sets the financial state-
ments that should be presented by a retirement benefit plan. 

IPSAS 50:
Exploration For & Evalua-
tion of Mineral Resources

Applicable 1st January 2027

The objective of this Standard is to specify the financial reporting for the explora-
tion for and evaluation of mineral resources. The Standard requires:

i.	 Limited improvements to existing accounting practices for exploration and 
evaluation expenditures.

ii.	 Entities that recognize exploration and evaluation assets to assess such assets 
for impairment in accordance with this Standard and measure any impairment 
in accordance with IPSAS 26.

iii.	 Disclosures that identify and explain the amounts in the entity’s financial state-
ments arising from the exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources and 
help users of those financial statements understand the amount, timing and 
certainty of future cash flows from any exploration and evaluation assets rec-
ognized. 

(The Trustees have assessed the applicable standards and amendments. Based on their assessment of impact 
of application of the above, they do not expect that there will be a significant impact on the company’s financial 
statements.

ii.	 Early adoption of standards

The Entity adopted IPSAS 49 which led to inclusion of statement of changes in net asset available to mem-
bers as required in this standard. The scheme has been using International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) hence no impact on early adoption on the financial statements.  

4. Summary of Accounting Policies

The principle accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below:

a) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in a contract with a cus-
tomer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The  entity recognizes revenue when it transfers 
control of a product or service to a customer.

i.	 Revenue from the sale of goods and services is recognized in the year in which the entity delivers prod-
ucts to the customer, the customer has accepted the products and collectability of the related receiv-
ables is reasonably assured.

ii.	 Grants from National Government are recognized in the year in which the entity actually receives such 
grants. Recurrent grants are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. Development/capi-
tal grants are recognized in the statement of financial position and realised in the statement of compre-
hensive income over the useful life of the assets that has been acquired using such funds. 

iii.	 Finance income comprises interest receivable from bank deposits and investment in securities, and is 
recognized in profit or loss on a time proportion basis using the effective interest rate method.
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4. Summary of Accounting Policies (continued)

a) Revenue recognition (continued)

iv.	 Dividend income is recognized in the income statement in the year in which the right to receive the 
payment is established.

v.	 Rental income is recognized in the income statement as it accrues using the effective interest implicit 
in lease agreements.

vi.	 Other income is recognized as it accrues.

b) In-kind contributions

In-kind contributions are donations that are made to the entity in the form of actual goods and/or services rather 
than in money or cash terms. These donations may include vehicles, equipment or personnel services. Where the 
financial value received for in-kind contributions can be reliably determined, the entity includes such value in the 
statement of comprehensive income both as revenue and as an expense in equal and opposite amounts; other-
wise, the contribution is not recorded.

c) Property, plant and equipment

All categories of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses.

Certain categories of property, plant and equipment are subsequently carried at re-valued amounts, being their 
fair value at the date of re-valuation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

Increases in the carrying amounts of assets arising from re-valuation are credited to other comprehensive income. 
Decreases that offset previous increases in the carrying amount of the same asset are charged against the revalua-
tion reserve account; all other decreases are charged to profit or loss in the income statement. Gains and losses on 
disposal of items of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from the disposal 
with the net carrying amount of the items, and are recognised in profit or loss in the income statement.

d) Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and equipment

Freehold land and capital work in progress are not depreciated. Capital work in progress relates mainly to the cost 
of ongoing but incomplete works on buildings and other civil works and installations.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is recognized in the income statement on a straight-line basis to 
write down the cost of each asset or the re-valued amount to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The 
annual rates in use, as guided by National Treasury policy on assets depreciation  are:

Freehold Land     Nil

Buildings and civil works                              50 years or the unexpired lease period

Plant and machinery 8 years

Motor vehicles, including motor cycles 4 years

Computers and related equipment 3 years

Office equipment, furniture and fittings 8 years

A full year’s depreciation charge is recognised both in the year of asset purchase and in the year of asset disposal.

Items of property, plant and equipment are reviewed annually for impairment. Where the carrying amount of an 
asset is assessed as greater than its estimated recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised so that the 
asset is written down immediately to its estimated recoverable amount.

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2025 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2025 

4. Summary of Accounting Policies (continued)

e) Intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are ac-
quired separately are carried at cost less accumulat-
ed amortization and accumulated impairment loss-
es. Amortization is recognized on a straight-line basis 
over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful 
life and amortization method is reviewed at the end of 
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes 
in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. 
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are ac-
quired separately are carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses.

f) Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets

Amortisation is calculated on the straight-line basis 
over the estimated useful life of the intangible asset. 
All intangible assets are reviewed annually for impair-
ment. Where the carrying amount of an intangible as-
set is assessed as greater than its estimated recoverable 
amount, an impairment loss is recognised so that the 
asset is written down immediately to its estimated re-
coverable amount.

g) Investment property

Investment property, which is property held to earn 
rentals and/or for capital appreciation (including prop-
erty under construction for such purposes), is measured 
initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent 
to initial recognition, investment property is measured 
at fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in the 
fair value of investment property are included in profit 
or loss in the period in which they arise. An investment 
property is derecognized upon disposal or when the in-
vestment property is permanently withdrawn from use 
and no future economic benefits are expected from the 
disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of 
the property (calculated as the difference between the 
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which 
the property is derecognized.

h) Right of Use Asset

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measure-
ment of the corresponding lease liability, lease pay-
ments made at or before the commencement day, less 
any lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. 
They are subsequently measured at cost less accumu-
lated depreciation and impairment losses. Whenever 
the entity incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle 
and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it 

is located or restore the underlying asset to the condi-
tion required by the terms and conditions of the lease, a 
provision is recognized and measured under IAS 37. To 
the extent that the costs relate to a right-of-use asset, 
the costs are included in the related right-of-use asset, 
unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories. 
Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter pe-
riod of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. 
If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or 
the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the en-
tity expects to exercise a purchase option, the related 
right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life 
of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the 
commencement date of the lease. The right-of-use as-
sets are presented as a separate line in the consolidated 
statement of financial position.

i) Fixed interest investments (bonds)

Fixed interest investments refer to investment funds 
placed under Central Bank of Kenya (CBK) long-term 
infrastructure bonds and other corporate bonds with 
the intention of earning interest income upon the 
bond’s disposal or maturity. Fixed interest investments 
are freely traded at the Nairobi Securities Exchange. 
These bonds are measured at amortized cost/ at fair val-
ue through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)or at 
fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) (entity to amend 
appropriately based on measurement/ classification) 

j) Quoted investments

Quoted investments are classified as non-current assets 
and comprise marketable securities traded freely at the 
Nairobi Securities Exchange or other regional and inter-
national securities exchanges. Quoted investments are 
stated at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).

k) Unquoted investments

Unquoted investments are measured at fair value 
through profit or loss (FVTPL).

l) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net real-
izable value. Cost comprises direct materials and, where 
applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads that 
have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their 
present location and condition. Cost is calculated us-
ing the weighted average cost method or First In First 
Out (FIFO) (amend as appropriate). Net realizable value 
represents the estimated selling price less all estimated 
costs of completion and costs to be incurred in market-
ing, selling and distribution.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2025 

4. Summary of Accounting Policies (continued)

m) Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognized at amor-
tized cost less allowances for any uncollectible amounts. 
These are assessed for impairment on a continuing ba-
sis. An estimate is made of doubtful receivables based 
on a review of all outstanding amounts at the year end. 
Bad debts are written off after all efforts at recovery 
have been exhausted.

n) Taxation

i.	 Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the cur-
rent period are measured at the amount expected to 
be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. 
The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount 
are those that are enacted or substantively enacted, 
at the reporting date in the area where the Entity op-
erates and generates taxable income. Current income 
tax relating to items recognized directly in net assets 
is recognized in net assets and not in the statement of 
financial performance.

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the cur-
rent period are measured at the amount expected to 
be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. 
The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount 
are those that are enacted or substantively enacted, at 
the reporting date in the area where the Entity operates 
and generates taxable income.

Management periodically evaluates positions taken in 
the tax returns with respect to situations in which appli-
cable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and 
establishes provisions where appropriate.

o) Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on 
temporary differences between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial 
reporting purposes at the reporting date.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable 
temporary differences, except in respect of taxable 
temporary differences associated with investments in 
controlled entities, associates and interests in joint ven-
tures, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the 
temporary differences will not reverse in the foresee-
able future. Deferred tax assets are recognized for all 
deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of 
unused tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred 
tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is prob-
able that taxable profit will be available against which 

the deductible temporary differences, and the carry for-
ward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can 
be utilized, except in respect of deductible temporary 
differences associated with investments in controlled 
entities, associates and interests in joint ventures, de-
ferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that 
it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse 
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be avail-
able against which the temporary differences can be 
utilized.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed 
at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that 
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will 
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax as-
set to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are 
re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognized 
to the extent that it has become probable that future 
taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be 
recovered. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are mea-
sured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the 
year when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, 
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enact-
ed or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax relating to items recognized outside sur-
plus or deficit is recognized outside surplus or deficit. 
Deferred tax items are recognized in correlation to the 
underlying transaction in net assets. Deferred tax assets 
and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforce-
able right exists to set off current tax assets against cur-
rent income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate 
to the same taxable entity and the same taxation au-
thority.

p) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisi-
tion, construction or production of qualifying assets, 
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial pe-
riod of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, 
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time 
as the assets are substantially ready for their intended 
use or sale. To the extent that variable rate borrowings 
are used to finance a qualifying asset and are hedged 
in an effective cash flow hedge of interest rate risk, the 
effective portion of the derivative is recognized in other 
comprehensive income and reclassified to profit or loss 
when the qualifying asset impacts profit or loss. To the 
extent that fixed rate borrowings are used to finance a 
qualifying asset and are hedged in an effective fair val-
ue hedge of interest rate risk, the capitalized borrow-
ing costs reflect the hedged interest rate. Investment 
income earned on the temporary investment of specific 
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying as-
sets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for 
capitalization. All other borrowing costs are recognized 
in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2025 

4. Summary of Accounting Policies (continued)

q) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and 
cash at bank, short-term deposits on call and highly 
liquid investments with an original maturity of three 
months or less, which are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash and are subject to insignificant risk 
of changes in value. Bank account balances include 
amounts held at the Central Bank of Kenya and at vari-
ous Commercial Banks at the end of the reporting peri-
od. For the purposes of these financial statements, cash 
and cash equivalents also include short term cash im-
prests and advances to authorised public officers and/
or institutions which were not surrendered or account-
ed for at the end of the financial year.

r) Borrowings

Interest bearing loans and overdrafts are initially re-
corded at fair value being received, net of issue costs 
associated with the borrowing. Subsequently, these are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into 
account any issue cost and any discount or premium on 
settlement. Finance charges, including premiums pay-
able of settlement or redemption are accounted for on 
accrual basis and are added to the carrying amount of 
the instrument to the extent that they are not settled 
in the period in which they arise. Loan interest accru-
ing during the construction of a project is capitalised as 
part of the cost of the project.

s) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are non-interest bearing and 
are carried at amortised cost, which is measured at the 
fair value of contractual value of the consideration to be 
paid in future in respect of goods and services supplied, 
whether billed to the entity or not, less any payments 
made to the suppliers.

t) Retirement benefit obligations

The entity operates a defined contribution scheme for 
all full-time employees from July 1, 2024. The scheme 
is administered by an in-house team and is funded 
by contributions from both the company and its em-
ployees. The company also contributes to the statutory 
National Social Security Fund (NSSF). This is a defined 
contribution scheme registered under the National So-
cial Security Act. The company’s obligation under the 
scheme is limited to specific contributions legislated 

from time to time and is currently at employee10% of 
basic while employer contributes 20%.

u) Provision for staff leave pay

Employees’ entitlements to annual leave are recognised 
as they accrue at the employees. At provision is made 
for the estimated liability for annual leave at the report-
ing date.

v) Exchange rate differences

The accounting records are maintained in the function-
al currency of the primary economic environment in 
which the entity operates, Kenya Shillings. Transactions 
in foreign currencies during the year/period are trans-
lated into the functional currency using the exchange 
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions or val-
uation where items are re-measured. Any foreign ex-
change gains and losses resulting from the settlement 
of such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in 
profit or loss.

w) Budget information 

The original budget for FY 2024/25 was approved by the 
Board of Trustees and The National Treasury. Subse-
quent revisions or additional appropriations were made 
to the approved budget in accordance with specific ap-
provals from the appropriate authorities. The additional 
appropriations are added to the original budget by the 
entity upon receiving the respective approvals in order 
to conclude the final budget. 

The entity’s budget is prepared on a different basis to 
the actual income and expenditure disclosed in the 
financial statements. The financial statements are 
prepared on accrual basis using a classification based 
on the nature of expenses in the statement of finan-
cial performance, whereas the budget is prepared on 
a cash basis. The amounts in the financial statements 
were recast from the accrual basis to the cash basis and 
reclassified by presentation to be on the same basis as 
the approved budget. A comparison of budget and ac-
tual amounts, prepared on a comparable basis to the 
approved budget, is then presented in the statement 
of comparison of budget and actual amounts. In addi-
tion to the Basis difference, adjustments to amounts in 
the financial statements are also made for differences 
in the formats and classification schemes adopted for 
the presentation of the financial statements and the 
approved budget.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2025 

4. Summary of Accounting Policies (continued)

x) Service concession arrangements 

The Entity analyses all aspects of service concession ar-
rangements that it enters into in determining the ap-
propriate accounting treatment and disclosure require-
ments. In particular, where a private party contributes 
an asset to the arrangement, the Entity recognizes that 
asset when, and only when, it controls or regulates the 
services the operator must provide together with the 
asset, to whom it must provide them, and at what price. 
In the case of assets other than ’whole-of-life’ assets, it 
controls, through ownership, beneficial entitlement or 
otherwise – any significant residual interest in the as-
set at the end of the arrangement. Any assets so recog-
nized are measured at their fair value. To the extent that 
an asset has been recognized, the Entity also recogniz-
es a corresponding liability, adjusted by a cash consider-
ation paid or received.

y) Comparative figures

Where necessary comparative figures for the previous 
financial year have been amended or reconfigured to 
conform to the required changes in presentation.

z) Subsequent events

There have been no events subsequent to the finan-
cial year end with a significant impact on the financial 
statements for the year ended June 30, 2025

5. Significant Judgments and Sources of Estimation 	
    Uncertainty 

The preparation of the Entity’s financial statements in 
conformity with IPSAS requires management to make 
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and li-
abilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at 
the end of the reporting period. However, uncertainty 
about these assumptions and estimates could result 
in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the 
carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in fu-
ture periods.

State all judgements, estimates and assumptions 
made: e.g. 

a) Estimates and assumptions

The key assumptions concerning the future and other 
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting 
date, that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and lia-
bilities within the next financial year, are described be-
low. The Entity based its assumptions and estimates 
on parameters available when the financial statements 
were prepared. However, existing circumstances and 
assumptions about future developments may change 
due to market. Changes or circumstances arising be-
yond the control of the Entity. Such changes are reflect-
ed in the assumptions when they occur.

b) Useful lives and residual values

The useful lives and residual values of assets are as-
sessed using the following indicators to inform poten-
tial future use and value from disposal:

•	 The condition of the asset based on the as-
sessment of experts employed by the Entity

•	 The nature of the asset, its susceptibility and 
adaptability to changes in technology and 
processes

•	 The nature of the processes in which the as-
set is deployed

•	 Availability of funding to replace the assets

c) Provisions

Provisions were raised and management determined 
an estimate based on the information available. Addi-
tional disclosure of these estimates of provisions is in-
cluded in Note 10.

Provisions are measured at the management’s best es-
timate of the expenditure required to settle   the ob-
ligation at the reporting date, and are discounted to 
present value where the effect is material. (include pro-
visions applicable for your organization e.g. provision for 
bad debts, provisions of obsolete stocks and how man-
agement estimates these provisions)
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2025 

6. Contributions

6a. Contributions receivable

Description
2025
Kshs

2024
Kshs

Employer 34,983,477,579 29,726,909,221

Employee 17,665,616,482 14,979,116,454

Transfer-in 4,134,010 0

Total 52,653,228,071 44,706,025,675

6b. Reconciliation of contributions receivable

Description

Contributions 
Receivable

2024
Kshs

Contributions 
Accrued

2025
Kshs

Contributions 
Received

2025
Kshs

Contributions 
Receivable

2025
Kshs

Contributions 3,205,373,558 52,649,094,061 45,247,700,613 10,606,767,006

 Transfers- in 0 4,134,010 4,134,010 0

Total 3,205,373,558 52,653,228,071 45,251,834,623 10,606,767,006

7. Benefits 

7a. Benefits payable

Description
2025
Kshs

2024
Kshs

Commutations/Lumpsum 24,186,452             9,696,445

Death in Service 130,782,667 49,803,040

Total 154,969,119 59,499,485

7b. Reconciliation of Benefits Payable

Description

Benefits 
Accrued     

 2025
Kshs

Benefits Paid 
during the year 

2025

Benefits 
Payable

2025

Benefits 
Payable

2024
Kshs

Commutations/Lumpsum - 155,489,335 154,969,119 520,216

Total - 155,489,335 154,969,119 520,216
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2025 

8. Investment Income

8a Investment Income

Description
2025
Kshs

2024
Kshs

Interest income from treasury bonds 19,112,937,132 10,743,514,543

Interest income from treasury bills 1,960,020,096 1,839,115,386

Interest from Call and Fixed Deposits 1,177,067,151 1,268,200,209  

Offshore income 377,036,944 87,022,318

Dividends 845,508,062 116,618,340

Interest in Bank current accounts 24,356,814 26,720,261

Total 23,496,926,199 14,081,191,057

8b Other Investment Income

Description
2025
Kshs

2024
Kshs

Rebates & other investment income - 1,343,235

Other income (657,125) 12,500,000

Gain/Loss on sale of Government secu-
rities 1,750,258,827 (1,801,398)

Total 1,749,601,702 12,041,837

Total Investment Income (8a+8b) 25,246,527,901 14,093,232894

8c. Investment Income Movement

Description

Accrued 
Investment 

Income as at 
1st July 2024

Kshs

Receivables 
for the current 

year
Kshs

Received for 
the current 

year
Kshs

Accrued Invest-
ment Income as 

at 30th June 2025
Kshs

Interest income from treasury bonds - 19,112,937,132 19,112,937,132 -

Income from treasury bills 1,296,166,037 1,960,020,096 2,700,568,829 555,617,304

Interest from commercial banks and 
financial institutions 1,577,773,927 1,201,423,965 2,778,868,288 329,604

Interest from Eurobond 70,140,121 377,036,944 301,693,554 145,483,511

Dividends 57,789,600 845,508,062 666,332,837 236,964,825

Total Investment Income 3,001,869,685 23,496,926,199 25,560,400,640 938,395,244
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2025 

9. Fair Value Gains and Losses of investments

Description
2025
Kshs

2024
Kshs

Treasury Bonds 18,930,050,533 (345,840,989)

Offshore- Eurobonds (137,211,297) (660,974,632)

Quoted Equities 4,326,918,145 424,556,717

Revaluation Gain/Loss on offshore 
investments 595,841,770 0

Foreign exchange gains/(losses) (9,069,471) (19,045,757)

Change in Fair Value: Private 
Equity 239,612,568 0

Change in Fair Value - Real Estate 93,289,893 0

Total 24,039,432,141 (601,304,661)

10. Investment Management Expenses

Description
2025
Kshs

2024
Kshs

Fund Management fees 431,630,643 233,581,138

Custodian Fees 60,524,637 33,741,699

Investment advisors fees 1,429,757 0

Total 493,585,038 267,322,837

11. Staff Costs

Description
2025
Kshs

2024
Kshs

Basic salary and allowances 107,379,550 57,204,243

Provision for Gratuity 5,869,765 -

Total 113,249,315 57,204,243
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2025 

12. Administration Costs

Description
2025
Kshs

2024
Kshs

Administration fees 304,633,065 230,512,775

Board of Trustee Expenses (Note15a) 29,537,282 6,384,000

RBA Levy 5,000,000 5,000,000

AGM Costs 15,067,879 4,465,094

Member sensitization expenses 16,992,603 11,594,952

Rent expenses 32,446,128 4,677,120

Hospitality Expenses 4,012,839 1,080,749

Bank charges and commissions (284,524) 1,750,355

Fuel Expenses 3,744,976 486,863

Stationary Expenses 3,722,778 256,436

Security Expenses 1,407,042 179,993

Professional Subscription 311,483 556,760

Depreciation 45,824,867 10,832,713

Development of Legislation 8,650,900 4,879,600

Training and Workshops 27,479,087 25,746,698

Motor Vehicle Expenses 1,302,789 753,030

Newspaper Expenses 387,728 60,343

Parcel expenses 150,885 16,450

Other Operating Expenses 100,266,007 384,542

Total 600,653,814 309,618,473

13. Tax expense

Description
2025
Kshs

2024
Kshs

Tax for the year 33,186,754 16,107,676

Total tax 33,186,754 16,107,676
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2025 

14. Cash and cash equivalent

a) Short Term Deposits

Description
Financial institution

2025
Kshs

2024
Kshs

Current Account

Co-op bank Custody A/C 900,962 12,518,714

CBK PSSS Fund Account 1,311,924,150 1,210,187,902

NCBA bank Custody A/C 1,860,643 47,031,891

Stanbic Custody account 557,805 25,368,219

Trustees Admin Account 17,139,152 8,337,223

Coop Custody USD a/c 0 3

NCBA Custody USD a/c 16,238 289

Sub Total 1,332,398,950 1,303,444,241

On Call Deposit

Fixed Term Deposits 608,816,192 7,827,001,954

Call Deposits 0 491,432,682

USD Call Deposits 3,890,441 78,813,750

Trustees’ a/c Call Deposits 91,562,736 122,103,139

Sub Total 704,269,369 8,519,351,524

Grand Total 2,036,668,319 9,822,795,766
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2025 

15. Plan Investments

Description

Fair Value as at 
1st July 2024

Kshs
Additions

Kshs
Disposals

Kshs

Gains/Loss
On Sale

Kshs

Movement in 
discounts

Kshs

Gains/Loss on 
Revaluation

Kshs

Fair Value as at 
30th June 2025)

Kshs

Treasury 
Bonds 100,386,817,011 85,885,391,984 (18,626,759,203) 1,750,258,827 18,930,050,532 188,325,759,151

Euro Bonds 2,155,352,331 2,359,232,477 (150,525,730) - (137,211,292) 4,372,331,293

Treasury Bills 24,821,597,207 10,836,725,500 (25,173,298,053) - (740,548,734) - 9,744,475,103

Private equity - 5,175,920,000 - - 239,612,568 5,415,532,568

Investment 
Property* - 2,000,000,000 - - 93,289,893 2,093,289,893

Offshores - 6,465,753,665 - - 595,841,770 7,061,595,435

Total Plan 
Investments 127,363,766,549 112,723,023,626 (43,950,582,986) 1,750,258,827 (740,548,734) 19,721,583,471 217,012,983,443

15. b) Equity

Description
Mkt value as at 

1st July 2024
Opening 

No of shares Additions Units

Additions 
Amounts

Kshs No of shares

Mkt price 
30th June 

2025
Change in 
Fair Value

Mkt value 
30th June 2025

KCB Bank 1,330,875,000 42,588,000 49,095,200 1,855,569,313 91,683,200 47 1,085,992,807 4,272,437,120

ABSA Kenya 415,651,600 29,689,400 12,190,200 196,129,292 41,879,600 19 192,307,428 804,088,320

EABL 302,733,804 2,062,922 2,689,900 457,165,698 4,752,822 185 116,996,157 876,895,659

Co-operative 
bank 526,126,710 41,427,300 21,613,200 282,336,023 63,040,500 18 319,962,217 1,128,424,950

Equity 621,036,975 14,699,100 42,276,700 1,855,677,668 56,975,800 49 309,401,977 2,786,116,620

Safaricom 
Limited 1,195,682,580 69,114,600 204,268,200 3,338,986,960 273,382,800 25 2,299,900,460 6,834,570,000

Stanbic Hold-
ings Ltd

                             
-    -   300,000 46,992,900 300,000 165 2,357,100 49,350,000

4,392,106,669 199,581,322 332,433,400 8,032,857,855 531,714,722  4,326,918,145 16,751,882,669

16. Trade and Other Receivables

Description
2025
Kshs

2024
Kshs

Contribution debtors (Note 6 (a) 10,606,767,006 3,205,373,558

Dividends (Note 6 (a) 236,964,825 57,789,600

Trade & other receivable 15,606,628 12,476,131

Total Receivables 10,859,338,459 3,275,639,289
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17. Property, Plant and Equipment

Description
Motor vehi-

cles

Computers 
& related 

equipment

Office 
equipment, 
furniture & 

fittings ERP 

Capital 
work in 

prog-
ress-F&F

Capital 
work in 

prog-
ress-ERP Total

Rate 25% 30% 12.50% 30%    

 Kshs Kshs Kshs  Kshs Kshs Kshs

As At 1 July 2024 (Cost) 28,560,001 11,078,250 0  45,735,719 42,085,437 127,459,407

Additions 18,461,395 23,578,580 26,804,182 10,646,360 51,665,929 40,198,547 171,354,993

Disposals -16,510,000 - -  - - -16,510,000

Transfers/Adjustments - - 45,735,641 42,085,437 -45,735,641 -42,085,437 0

Total 30,511,396 34,656,830 72,539,823 52,731,797 51,666,007 40,198,547 282,304,400

Depreciation        

At 1 July 2024 7,140,000 3,692,713 0 0 0 0 10,832,713

Depreciation 7,627,849 11,552,276 9,067,478 17,577,264 - - 45,824,867

Disposals -4,127,500 - - - - - -4,127,500

As at 30th June 2025 10,640,349 15,244,989 9,067,478 17,577,264 0 0 52,530,080

        

NBV As at 30th June 2024 21,420,001 7,385,537 0 0 45,735,719 42,085,437 116,626,694

NBVAs at 30th June 2025 19,946,047 19,411,808 63,472,345 35,154,533 51,665,929 40,198,547 229,774,320

18. Tax payable

Description
2025
Kshs

2024
Kshs

Balance b/f (14,008,325) (2,379,687)

Add: Tax charge (33,186,754) (16,107,677)

Less: Tax paid 31,726,768 4,479,039

Total 15,468,311 (14,008,325)

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2025 
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19. Trade and Other Payables

Description
2025
Kshs

2024
Kshs

Retirement Benefits Levy 5,000,000 5,000,000

Fund Management fees 131,588,827 95,904,018

Custody fees 18,421,800 6,132,868

Administration fees 91,075,035 73,417,779

Gratuity 5,869,765 0

Accrued expenses 40,200,976 0

Withholding taxes payable 3,400,514 0

Withdrawal Benefit Payable 0 520,216

Other payables-Retention money 5,166,593 4,573,565

Overpaid Employer Contributions 3,806,331,279 2,546,798,129

Total 4,107,054,789 2,732,346,575

20. Bond Revaluation Reserve

Description
2025
Kshs

2024
Kshs

At the start of the year 1st July (1,006,813,597) 0

Change in fair value of Treasury bond 18,930,050,533 (1,006,813,597)

At the start of the year 30th June 2025 17,923,236,936 17,923,236,936

21. Fair Value Adjustment Reserve

The fair value adjustment reserve arises on the revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets, principally the 
marketable securities. When a financial asset is sold, the portion of the reserve that relates to that asset is re-
duced from the fair value adjustment reserve and is recognised in profit or loss. Where a financial asset is im-
paired, the portion of the reserve that relates to that asset is recognised in profit or loss.

22. Revaluation Reserve

The revaluation reserve relates to the revaluation of certain items of property, plant and equipment. As indicated 
in the Statement of Changes in Equity, this is stated after transfer of excess depreciation net of related deferred 
tax to retained earnings. Revaluation surpluses are not distributable.

23. Fair Value Adjustment Reserve

The fair value adjustment reserve arises on the revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets, principally the 
marketable securities. When a financial asset is sold, the portion of the reserve that relates to that asset is re-
duced from the fair value adjustment reserve and is recognized in profit or loss. Where a financial asset is im-
paired, the portion of the reserve that relates to that asset is recognized in profit or loss.
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24. Retained Earnings

The retained earnings represent amounts available for distribution to the entity’s shareholders. Undistributed 
retained earnings are utilized to finance the entity’s business activities.

25. Related Party Disclosures

Entities and other parties related to the Fund include those parties who have ability to exercise control or exercise 
significant influence over its operating and financial decisions. Related parties include Trustees, management 
personnel, their associates and close family members. 

26. Incorporation

PSSF is incorporated in Kenya through an Act of parliament, the Public Service Superannuation Scheme Act No. 8 
of 2012

27. Events after the Reporting Period

There were no material adjusting and non- adjusting events after the reporting period.
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Appendices

Appendix I: Implementation Status of Auditor-General prior year recommendations

The following is the summary of issues raised by the external auditor, and management comments that were 
provided to the auditor. 

Reference No. 
on the ex-
ternal audit 
Report

Issue / 
Observations from 
Auditor

Management 
comments

Status:
(Resolved / Not 
Resolved)

Status:
(Resolved / Not Resolved) 

1

Unremitted pension 
employer contribution 
amounting to Kshs. 
3,275,639,289

Follow up being 
done with Treasury 
to pay.

Resolved Treasury has paid all the 
outstanding contributions

2 Delay in remitting instal-
ment tax The tax was paid Resolved The instalment tax was 

paid.

3 Failure to Tag Assets
The assets were 
received after year 
end. 

Resolved All assets have been tagged

Guidance Notes:

i.	 Use the same reference numbers as contained in the external audit report;

ii.	 Obtain the “Issue/Observation” and “management comments”, required above, from final external audit 
report that is signed by Management.

iii.	 Indicate the status of “Resolved” or “Not Resolved” by the date of submitting this report to National Trea-
sury

Dr. Jonah Aiyabei, PhD
Chief Executive Officer
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Appendices (continued)

Appendix II: Schedule of Treasury Bonds Investments

Particulars Sum of Face Value
Average of 

Rate
Sum of Fair Value 

Gain/Loss
Sum of Fair as at 

06/30/25
Average of 
Price/Yield

Min of Maturity 
Date

FXD1/2008/20 962,000,000.00 13.75 -24,611,815.25 1,038,841,674.00 107.99 06/05/2028

FXD1/2012/20 1,710,000,000.00 12.00 63,860,550.00 1,658,342,610.00 96.98 11/01/2032

FXD1/2013/15 60,000,000.00 11.25 2,003,433.60 63,047,520.00 105.08 02/07/2028

FXD1/2016/10 3,928,500,000.00 15.04 381,682,909.50 4,350,739,108.50 104.14 8/17/2026

FXD1/2016/20 5,400,000,000.00 14.00 1,619,329,848.00 6,125,981,400.00 87.47 09/01/2036

FXD1/2017/10 5,950,000,000.00 12.97 85,920,581.55 6,514,298,000.00 109.48 7/19/2027

FXD1/2018/15 1,390,000,000.00 12.65 111,554,918.00 1,420,086,550.00 104.82 05/09/2033

FXD1/2018/20 13,594,500,000.00 13.20 1,979,480,670.00 14,678,104,000.50 96.06 03/01/2038

FXD1/2018/25 4,270,000,000.00 13.40 79,969,621.20 4,387,787,950.00 107.72 5/25/2043

FXD1/2019/20 3,552,900,000.00 12.87 487,404,586.50 3,704,548,430.70 91.68 3/21/2039

FXD1/2020/15 2,290,000,000.00 13.40 217,993,355.00 2,438,964,500.00 106.51 02/05/2035

FXD1/2021/20 3,800,000,000.00 13.44 485,305,600.00 4,116,072,600.00 97.89 7/22/2041

FXD1/2021/25 4,052,650,000.00 13.92 583,541,073.50 4,334,467,228.35 95.98 04/09/2046

FXD1/2022/10 2,552,000,000.00 13.49 362,287,146.00 2,697,068,440.00 100.94 05/03/2032

FXD1/2022/15 23,495,000,000.00 13.94 3,006,966,155.00 26,306,129,760.00 102.17 04/06/2037

FXD1/2022/25 11,436,000,000.00 14.19 994,563,622.00 12,448,360,464.00 108.16 9/23/2047

FXD1/2023/10 9,709,000,000.00 14.15 1,057,308,774.00 10,883,740,455.00 103.39 1/31/2033

FXD1/2023/2 2,010,000,000.00 16.97 23,000,430.00 2,156,774,220.00 103.69 8/18/2025

FXD1/2023/3 26,116,600,000.00 14.23 2,250,754,704.60 27,648,860,922.00 101.73 05/11/2026

FXD1/2023/5 6,837,800,000.00 16.84 756,840,935.30 8,415,150,541.80 112.13 07/10/2028

FXD1/2024/03 1,770,000,000.00 18.39 152,674,890.00 2,104,314,060.00 108.43 01/11/2027

FXD1/2024/10 16,069,000,000.00 16.00 2,029,596,786.00 19,133,454,714.00 106.51 2/27/2034

FXD2/2018/10 365,000,000.00 12.50 66,138,365.00 384,838,845.00 93.49 12/04/2028

FXD2/2018/20 10,200,000.00 13.20 1,448,134.80 11,198,508.60 96.40 07/05/2038

FXD2/2019/10 10,000,000.00 12.30 66,224.80 10,644,410.00 106.44 04/02/2029

FXD2/2019/15 12,000,000.00 12.73 1,295,592.00 12,154,980.00 90.77 4/24/2034

IFB1/2021/16 25,000,000.00 12.26 -141,350.00 26,403,650.00 98.76 01/05/2037

IFB1/2021/18 14,200,000.00 12.67 1,083,332.20 15,909,651.60 92.13 3/21/2039

IFB1/2021/21 15,000,000.00 12.74 -399,390.00 15,611,760.00 101.02 8/18/2042

IFB1/2022/14 1,695,000,000.00 13.94 42,200,361.30 1,819,938,450.00 105.16 10/27/2036

IFB1/2022/18 600,000.00 13.74 55,518.60 689,072.40 99.09 5/21/2040

IFB1/2022/6 107,000,000.00 13.22 3,234,075.00 110,103,535.00 101.20 11/27/2028

IFB1/2023/17 9,679,500,000.00 14.40 1,470,890,652.25 10,917,527,409.00 100.53 2/20/2040

IFB1/2023/6.5 2,250,000,000.00 17.93 319,787,262.00 2,653,539,750.00 110.85 05/06/2030

IFB1/2023/7 750,000,000.00 15.84 26,892,000.00 843,995,250.00 101.78 06/10/2030

IFB1/2024/8.5 3,810,000,000.00 18.46 290,070,979.15 4,878,068,730.00 120.97 08/09/2032

Grand Total 169,699,450,000.00 18,930,050,531.60 188,325,759,150.45



25 Annual Report & Financial Statements

Appendices (continued)

Appendix III: Treasury Bills

Issue No. Cost Face Value Discount Maturity Date

Maturity 
Period 

Days
Balance as at 

06/30/25

2546/364 128,334,130.00 185,000,000.00 56,665,870.00 2/23/2026 364 134,365,772.50

2550/364 170,968,600.00 200,000,000.00 61,350,350.00 3/23/2026 364 176,051,744.23

2559/364 227,328,200.00 250,000,000.00 22,671,800.00 5/25/2026 364 229,508,180.77

2513/364 812,985,450.00 950,000,000.00 137,014,550.00 7/14/2025 364 944,730,209.62

2546/364 1,358,520,800.00 1,500,000,000.00 141,479,200.00 2/23/2026 364 46,894,230.77

2550/364 208,840,500.00 225,000,000.00 16,159,500.00 3/23/2026 364 209,482,213.00

2559/364 227,328,200.00 250,000,000.00 22,671,800.00 5/25/2026 364 229,508,180.77

2550/364 588,649,650.00 650,000,000.00 61,350,350.00 3/23/2026 364 605,167,051.92

2546/364 622,293,700.00 665,000,000.00 42,706,300.00 2/23/2026 364 624,180,323.70

2546/364 656,338,875.00 725,000,000.00 68,661,125.00 2/23/2026 364 680,106,187.50

2546/364 656,931,925.00 725,000,000.00 68,068,075.00 2/23/2026 364 680,493,950.96

2513/364 812,985,450.00 950,000,000.00 137,014,550.00 7/14/2025 364 944,730,209.62

2550/364 208,840,500.00 225,000,000.00 16,159,500.00 3/23/2026 364 209,482,212.99

2559/364 227,328,200.00 250,000,000.00 22,671,800.00 5/25/2026 364 229,508,180.77

2546/364 607,893,000.00 650,000,000.00 42,107,000.00 2/23/2026 364 610,116,958.26

2550/364 815,055,150.00 900,000,000.00 84,944,850.00 3/23/2026 364 837,924,917.31

2513/364 812,985,450.00 950,000,000.00 137,014,550.00 7/14/2025 364 944,730,209.62

2546/364 1,358,520,800.00 1,500,000,000.00 141,479,200.00 2/23/2026 364 1,407,494,369.23

 10,502,128,580.00 11,750,000,000.00 1,280,190,370.00   9,744,475,103.54
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